
Bristol Homes and Communities Board
Meeting Agenda

Thursday, 25 June 2020, 3.00 pm
Virtual Meeting - Zoom Committee Meeting with Public Access via YouTube

Board Members: Distribution Others:
Cllr Paul Smith, Cabinet Member for Housing 
(Chair)
Cllr Nicola Beech, Cabinet Member for Strategic 
Planning and City Design
Alistair Allender, Bristol Housing Partnership
Pete Daw, Housing Management Board
James Durie, Bristol Chamber & West of England 
Initiative
David Ingerslev, St Mungo's
Sado Jirde, Black South West Network
Robert Kerse, University of Bristol - Chief Financial 
Officer
Ian Knight, Homes England
Lindy Morgan, Community Led Homes
Kathryn Pennington, Vistry
Cathy Provenzano, Bristol Association of Letting 
and Property Management Agents
Tom Renhard, ACORN
Penny Walster, ACFA: Advice Network
Laura Welti, Bristol Disability Equality Forum

Julian Higson
Deeanne Klein

Indicative 
Timings

No Item Lead Purpose

3.00 pm 1.  Welcome, Introductions and 
Apologies for absence

Chair

3.05 pm 2.  Election of Co-Chair Chair To elect a Co-Chair of 
BHCB

3.10 pm 3.  Minutes of the last meeting

(Pages 3 - 11)

Chair To confirm as a correct 
record

3.15 pm 4.  Public Forum Chair To consider any public 
forum representations

Public Document Pack



3.20 pm 5.  Fuel Poverty

(Pages 12 - 60)

Aisha Stewart and 
Hannah Spungin

4.00 pm 6.  One City Climate Strategy

(Pages 61 - 105)

Andrew Linfoot, 
Environment Board
Matt Wood & Dave 
Tudgey, BACCC
Ian Barrett, Avon 
Wildlife Trust

4.40 pm 7.  Any Other Business Chair

4.50 pm 8.  Dates of Future Meetings Chair Thursday 8 October 2020
Thursday 14 January 
2021
Thursday 18 March 2021

Issued By: Corrina Haskins, Democratic services
City Hall, College Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR
Tel: 0117 35 76519
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: 17 June 2020

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Bristol Homes and Communities Board

Minutes of the meeting
14 May 2020, 3.00 pm

Venue – City Hall, Bristol

Board members: 
Councillor Paul Smith, Cabinet Member for Housing (Chair)
Councillor Nicola Beech, Cabinet Member with responsibility for Spatial Planning and City Design
Alistair Allender, Bristol Housing Partnership
Peter Daw, Tenant Representative, Housing Management Board
David Ingerslev, St Mungo's
David Mellor, Bristol Chamber of Commerce
Lindy Morgan, Community Led Homes
Robert Kerse, University of Bristol - Chief Financial Officer
Ian Knight, Homes England
Kathryn Pennington, Vistry Partnerships
Tom Renhard, ACORN
Penny Walster, ACFA: Advice Network
Laura Welti, Bristol Disability Equality Forum

Other attendees: 
Jez Sweetland – Bristol Housing Festival
Deanne Klein – Housing Policy and Projects Manager, BCC
Julian Higson – Director of Homes and Landlord Services, BCC
Zoe Willcox – Director, Development of Place, BCC
Paul Owens – Programme Manager, BCC
Paul Sylvester – Head of Housing Options, BCC
David Ader – City Office
Tim Southall – Affordable Housing Development Manager, BCC
Corrina Haskins – Democratic Services, BCC

1. Welcome, Introductions and Apologies for absence

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

Apologies for absence were received from: James Durie and Cathy Provenzano (Chair of Bristol 
Association of Letting and Property Management Agents).

2. Public Forum

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



A question was submitted by Acorn.

On behalf of Acorn, Tom Renhard set the context for the question:
 Acorn had been supporting communities in dealing with the impact of the Covid 19 crisis;
 There was a need for better support for people renting and Acorn were asking for:

o an end to Section 21;
o a rent waiver for the duration of the crisis;
o Prevention of eviction extended to lodgers;

 It was important for the Council to take a strong stand;
 Accountability and transparency were essential;
 Council and Housing Associations should continue to minimise evictions once the protection was 

lifted;
 A message should be sent to private landlords asking that evictions be minimised in recognition of 

the exceptional circumstances. 

Question:

“In order to protect tenants and mortgage holders from eviction and debt during the COVID-19 outbreak, ACORN 
calls on Mayor Marvin Rees, Cabinet member with responsibility for housing Paul Smith, and Bristol City Council to:

• Recognise the exceptional circumstances most tenants are in, and the exceptional measures needed to address 
the threat of mass evictions and debt once the government suspension of evictions is lifted;

• Support and publicise ACORN’s national campaign to protect renters and mortgage holders during the 
Coronavirus crisis: http://chng.it/NTrM8JYJtH

• Write to Robert Jenrick, the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, urging him to 
implement the demands in the above petition;

• Write to all private and social landlords in Bristol, urging them in the strongest possible terms not to evict tenants 
(particularly after the government protections end), and to offer rent waivers and reductions to ensure this.

Will you commit to these actions?”

Councillor Smith gave a verbal response as follows and undertook to organise a formal written response 
to Acorn: 

 The Council did not want to see people made homeless or evicted as a result of this crisis or under 
any circumstances;

 The Council had a social duty, as well as specific legal duty, to prevent homelessness and worked 
with tenants and landlords to prevent evictions;

 He supported an end to Section 21, but also wished to see significant changes to Section 8 (which 
allowed landlord to evict tenants for arrears);

Page 4

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__chng.it_NTrM8JYJtH&d=DwMFaQ&c=1vnCWTgU_iH2bgveKnHUZ8hJXVq2EkkiN8FwZDwwznM&r=lYC2FpWSXeeuXzdaLVfHtadKkM89Z1FjBqGhckydk8BEcWyNYOjb-WcaIWIpUKOL&m=F15vdo7AElf6TvAaWMDDsiA9he2cfFk3GvWZ2k5pBS0&s=QMQFRlOjGzIHlsR23jbIVhhINc-YomezSx-aoCzimgI&e=


 He also supported a review of the housing benefit system as, in terms of rent arrears, this could 
benefit more people than a waiver for people affected by Covid 19;

 He supported what Acorn were trying to do in relation to a freeze on mortgages and interest 
payments, but this was outside the remit of the Council;

 In relation to the point about lodgers, he suggested this needed further thought as changing the 
legal relationship between the lodger and the host could have a detrimental impact on lodging 
opportunities;

 He undertook to contact the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government on the 
points the Council supported.

3. Minutes of the last meeting

In relation to the discussion at the previous meeting about the importance of a co-ordinated approach in 
relation to tackling homelessness, Members noted that the Covid 19 crisis had resulted in different 
groups working together to tackle the issue.

RESOLVED – that the minutes of the 16 January 2020 were agreed as a correct record.

4. Covid-19/Lockdown Recovery in relation to Housing Issues

1. Presentation by Paul Sylvester – Homelessness and Rough Sleeping: let’s not return to normal

In introducing his presentation, PS confirmed that there had been a citywide approach to providing a 
temporary shelter for rough sleepers/homeless.  He asked Board Member to consider what support could 
be offered by their organisations to ensure that people did not return to living on the streets and the 
provision of sustainable move on accommodation.

 Situation before Covid:
o 120 people sleeping rough;
o 140 people in night shelters;
o 600 + households in temporary accommodation;
o 1100 + in hostels and other supported housing;
o 13,000 households on the waiting list;
o Social lettings reducing year on year;
o Private renting sector difficult to access;
o Gaps in support in terms of health provision and funding.

 Current situation:
o 280 people in hotels or similar;
o Interim housing for people with no recourse to public funds;
o Continued flow of people onto the streets and close working between Bristol City Council 

and St Mungo’s to meet the needs of these people; 

Page 5



o Moving home temporarily suspended (until 13 May)
o Increase in Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates returned to 30th percentile = £100 

increase;
o Project governance – support from Senior Management at Bristol City Council, Jacqui 

Jensen, Julian Higson and Hugh Evans.
 

 Opportunities:
o Looking at Housing Associations/private landlords providing move on accommodation;
o Property acquisition through different funding initiatives;
o Buying properties on stalled new developments;
o Ambitious new build programme to provide affordable housing;
o Bristol Housing Festival and modular accommodation.

 Support needed for people to sustain their tenancy:
o Alcohol and drugs;
o Mental health;
o Jobs and training.

 Immediate response and sustained change: 
 Focus on moving people on from hotels; 
 Assessment of needs; 
 Move on plans – interim, supported, affordable, bespoke; 
 Extending access to some hotel accommodation;
 Campaign to increase supply of affordable Private Rented Sector;
 Joint work across homelessness sector – organisations were working together;
 Targeted letting of Social Housing. 

Councillor Smith asked the different sectors to comment:

Voluntary Sector: 
 The voluntary sector welcomed the project and the proposal for move on accommodation and 

was well placed to provide the support needed;
 Access to accommodation and getting people into the right accommodation was key to preventing 

people returning to the streets.
 Welcomed the support from senior leadership at Bristol City Council and joint working across 

sectors;
 There was a need to build homeless prevention into the project;
 In terms of the “ask” from Bristol Homes and Communities Board – how many households were in 

hotels with no recourse to public funds? There was a need for a creative response to this and a call 
to the wider city to help.  
PS responded that there were approximately 50 households, 10 asylum seekers and 40 European 
nationals that were not working.  The latter group was being supported to get into work, but it 
was more challenging in relation to asylum seekers.

Page 6



Disability Equality Forum 
 Could people on the housing register looking for somewhere accessible be prioritised as this could 

free up accommodation elsewhere to meet the needs of people leaving temporary 
accommodation?

 How many of the people housed in hotels had access needs and were these needs met?
PS responded that it had been a challenge for people with access needs in hotels as, although hotels 
had lifts, they often had showers over baths rather than accessible facilities, but other 
accommodation was also available for those with specific needs.  

University
 Bristol University had been in dialogue with housing associations about using the university 

accommodation on a short term basis, some of which was suitable for disabled people, but no one 
had taken up the offer;

 The university could be able to offer land for a Launchpad to provide temporary housing, but 
would not be able to provide capital funding for such a project.  It was noted that the Council 
could fund this type of project if the university could supply land;

 The university also had some small properties which it may consider selling.

Community Led Housing
 There were sites available to provide interim housing within the city and fast tracking options 

should be considered to enable this to be progressed.

Housing Festival 
 Bristol Housing Festival and Bristol City Council were looking at the option of demountable 

housing to provide good quality accommodation on interim sites that could be relocated in the 
future.    

Private Developers:
 Many developers would have problems with cash flow as the result of the crisis and may be willing 

to sell stock to Local Authorities and Housing Associations.

Housing Associations:
 It would be useful if the presentation could be shared with Bristol Housing Partnership as there 

were opportunities to secure housing to address the short term need.  
JH responded that he had met with Dame Louise Casey who was leading a taskforce on rough 
sleeping and had followed up the meeting with asks which he hoped would be met with resources. 

Homes England
 How successful has the project been in getting clients to accept accommodation and have there 

been any issues with anti-social behaviour?
PS responded that although there were some issues, and some people had to leave the temporary 
accommodation, work was still carrying on to re-house them so they would not be returning to the 

Page 7



streets.  DI confirmed that St Mungo’s were supporting 3 of the 5 sites and 70% had welcomed the 
hotel accommodation and the opportunity to self-isolate and there had been very few cases of Covid 
19.  An outreach team had been supporting clients with prescriptions to help drug and alcohol 
additions.   

2. Presentation by Paul Owens – Housing Delivery Covid 19

Context
 Covid-19 would impact on the Council’s ability to deliver the Mayor’s commitment of building 

2000 homes, 800 affordable a year by 2020 but the full impact was not yet fully understood;

Strengths/Opportunities:
 BCC had an established Affordable Housing Grant Funding Programme;
 BCC had strong established partnerships with Housing Associations/ developers;
 Housing Delivery should be a key part of Bristol’s Economic Recovery Strategy;
 BCC was in a strong position to effectively respond to any infrastructure/housing economic 

stimulus packages to support a sustainable and inclusive economic recovery, have a number of 
sites that could be brought forward.

Impact of Covid-19 on Mainstream Housing Market
 Short Term – Practical difficulties due to restrictions had reduced completions (no 

viewings/valuations)  but changed in last few days;
 Medium Term -  Buyers more cautious due to uncertainty and impact on wealth (unemployment/ 

stock markets); 
 Longer Term – unknown impact of Covid-19 on earnings and wealth; 
 Currently both demand and supply had reduced;  
 Recession may cause a drag on housing delivery in Bristol.

Impact of Covid-19 on Housing Delivery
 Majority of house builders and Housing Associations development sites were closed although it 

was hoped this would change following the latest government advice;
 Development sites were slowly beginning to reopen but social distancing requirements could 

delay programmes by up to 50%;
 Section 106 acquisitions were not being pursued due to concerns about Shared Ownership values;
 Tenures of some affordable homes may change due to concerns over Shared Ownership values 
 Completions and transactions were forecast to significantly reduce for Q1 and Q2;
 Some development teams had been furloughed;
 Long term land opportunities were still being explored but all bids were heavily caveated in the 

short term.

Challenges:  
 Increased build costs (Estimated +15%) 

Page 8



 Reduced Residential Values (Estimated 5-10% potentially recovering in 2022 )
 Fewer transactions;
 Falling incomes could create further affordability pressures;
 Risk pressure to stimulate economy quickly,  which could compromise high quality design / 

sustainability 

Opportunities: 
 Potential to change how people think about houses and homes - greater value placed on good 

quality housing design / sustainability/ Place Making; 
 Promote Green Economy; 
 Expand BCC’s HRA Development Programme;  
 acquire affordable homes within existing developments (up to 50%) utilising BCC Grant Funding  

Housing Delivery Team’s current response to Covid-19    
 Working with Housing Associations/Developers to identify what the Council could do to support/ 

enable delivery and inform emerging policy responses;
 Utilise the Affordable Housing Grant Funding Programme to support Housing Associations in 

acquiring land and affordable homes from developers on site;
 Prepare to support Housing Associations in re-negotiating Section 106 Agreements quickly, if 

necessary, to assist delivery in a different housing market;
 Creating a pipeline of viable de-risked development opportunities by completing ground 

investigations and securing outline planning permission on allocated housing sites owned by the 
Council. 

The Chair invited comments from representatives of Developers/Homes England on the impact of Covid 
19:

Vistry Partnerships:
 In Bristol, most developers stopped completely during the lockdown period;
 Since the change in Government advice for people to return to work, the restart had gone well 

with the supply chain at 80% and productivity at 65%, and it was anticipated that there would be 
95% of people on site by the end of May with new adjustments to the new social distancing 
arrangements and staged working hours and a return to 90% productivity by the end of the year.

 In terms of sales rate across country and in Bristol, this was about 60% of usual sales; 
 In terms of housing associations most had paused activity while looked at finances but opening up 

on the whole with some exceptions;  
 Biggest challenges would be availability of mortgages for homeowners, but there was positive 

news this week in relation to 90% mortgages and the return of physical valuations;
 Another challenge was the cost of running a construction site;
 One “Ask” would be about support for planning teams as many Local Authorities had diverted 

Planning Officers to Covid 19 emergency works and this could result in developments being held 
up. 

Page 9



ZW confirmed that this was not the case in Bristol City Council and staff had been continuing to 
work from home to support the planning service.  She confirmed that there had been a drop in the 
number of planning applications which had a financial impact on the service, but hoped that this 
was temporary.    

Homes England (HE)
 In terms of sites across the country that HE owned and controlled, the experience of returning to 

work had been 50-60% in terms of staff and productivity;
 HE were actively working with MHCLG  to consider what could be done to support the housing 

sector, HE could do a lot to support the sector within its current budget to support SME sector;
 anticipate seeing a greater uptake of affordable housing on HE sites partly funded by additional 

contributions from affordable housing programme;
 HE had Housing Associations that were strategic partners and were committed to meeting funding 

obligations;
 Before the crisis, an Affordable Housing Programme with a budget of £12b had been announced 

but the prospectus had not yet been released and there was a degree of uncertainty about the 
level of funding and the tenures that would be supported as affordable housing, but it could 
unlock delivery from major housebuilders.

The following comments were made:
 In terms of support for communities, it was important for affordable housing not to drop off the 

priority list and to identify where community land trusts could play a role;
 Concern that there would be a depression, rather than a recession, as a result of the crisis;
 Ask BCC to highlight the following points to Robert Jennick:

o There would be a big impact on the housing market and, due to the correlation between 
housing market and economy in the UK, the impact on the general economy as a whole 
would be great; 

o Council tenants do not have the benefit of a rent holiday and were not all are cushioned by 
Housing Benefit.

 In view of the Government commitment to increasing and diversifying, Bristol needed to promote 
its innovation and modern methods of construction to attract investment to the region;

 From a local economy perspective, re-training was important so that the skills were available for 
modern methods of construction;

 Housing was key to the social and economic recovery of the city.

5. Date of Next Meeting

Board Members noted that the date of the next meeting was Thursday 25th June at 3pm and items on the 
agenda included climate change and fuel poverty.

6. Any Other Business

Page 10



David Ader asked Board Members to contact him if they were interested in getting involved in the 
work of the One City Economy Board in relation to an economic recovery strategy.

Meeting finished at 4.50 pm

CHAIR  __________________

Page 11



Fuel Poverty Action Plan 
 
 
Hannah Spungin & Aisha Stewart 

P
age 12

A
genda Item

 5



Fuel Poverty in Bristol 
Children and 
Young People 

People of 
working age 

Older people 

P
age 13



Strategic context 
National 
• Government’s statutory fuel poverty target for England (2014) 
• Public Health England  Local action on health inequalities: Fuel poverty 

and cold home-related health problems (2014) 
• NICE Guideline recommendations for excess winter deaths and illness 

and the health risks associated with cold homes (2015) 
Local  
• Corporate Plan, One City Plan & One City Climate Strategy all refer to 

Fuel Poverty 
• JSNA chapter on Fuel Poverty includes key recommendations for 

Bristol  

P
age 14



Proposed approach 

One City Approach 

Homes and 
Communities Board 

Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

No Cold Homes 
Steering Group 

Delivery partners 

Environmental 
Sustainability Board 

Governance 
• Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Endorsement  
• Environment Sustainability 

Board 
• Health and Wellbeing Board 

P
age 15



FP Action Plan in progress 
• Work in Progress 
• Split up into different Actions by Board (feedback?) 
• Current work and Future work (couple of years) 
• Just Energy Transition – links to Decarbonisation of Heat 

Plan 
• Currently seeking feedback/input from organisations across 

the city 
• So much is unknown it needs to be reviewed and grow 
• Completed by Autumn 2020 

 
 

P
age 16



Offer 
• Engaging with the relevant organisations across 

Bristol to obtain input to the Fuel Poverty Action 
Plan 

• Complete action plan following feedback from 
various One City boards 

• Speak to your organisations about the current 
support available for those in fuel poverty 
 
 

P
age 17



Ask 
• Provide information on any current actions your 

organisation is doing around fuel poverty/energy 
efficiency improvements 

• Consider any actions your organisation can take to 
prevent or alleviate fuel poverty or ensure a just 
transition 

• Feedback & input on the draft of the action plan  
 

P
age 18



Warmer Homes Advice and Money 
• A single point of contact support service 

covering Bristol & North Somerset helping 
to reduce financial, food and fuel poverty.  

• How to refer:  
• Use the on-line referral form: 

www.cse.org.uk/referral  
• Or call the free phone number: 0800 

082 2234 
 

P
age 19



Discussion 
• Work being undertaken by organisations 

– New build work? Housing Associations? 
– Does FP factor into any of the programs you are currently doing? 
– Does FP factor into any of the decision making within your organisation? 
– Were you aware of the government target of EPC C by 2030 for Fuel Poor 

Homes? 
• Planned improvement works and Energy Efficiency 

– Do you consider homeowners bills when planning energy efficiency or 
sustainable energy work? 

• Support for employees and tenants 
– Are you aware of support services for people in Fuel Poverty in Bristol? 
– What would be a useful resource? 

P
age 20



 

 

Bristol fuel poverty action plan 
2020 –2030 
A partnership approach to end cold homes in Bristol 

Logos of partners at bottom of front page: Bristol City Council, CSE, Bristol Energy. 

 

 

 

Draft for review by Health and Wellbeing and Environmental Sustainability boards 

Issued 17 March 2020 

Page 21



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

 

Foreword (inside page) 
[by Mayor ?]

Page 22



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

3 

Table of Contents 
Foreword (inside page) ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Table of Contents .................................................................................................................................... 3 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 5 

1 Introduction/Background ............................................................................................................... 6 

1.1 Fuel poverty and cold homes – definition .............................................................................. 6 

1.2 The harmful effects of living in a cold home ........................................................................... 7 

1.3 The national context ............................................................................................................... 7 

1.4 Bristol-specific challenges to addressing fuel poverty ............................................................ 9 

1.5 Rationale for action ................................................................................................................. 9 

1.6 Opportunities - what enables us to confront challenges – include national enablers ........... 9 

2 Our partnership approach ............................................................................................................ 10 

2.1 Fit with One City Plan ............................................................................................................ 10 

2.2 Oversight and delivery responsibility.................................................................................... 11 

2.3 Outcomes focused action plan ............................................................................................. 12 

3 Affordable, energy efficient housing ............................................................................................ 13 

3.1 Oversight Board: Homes and Communities .......................................................................... 13 

3.2 Context .................................................................................................................................. 13 

3.3 Planned Actions .................................................................................................................... 14 

3.4 Other ongoing activities ........................................................................................................ 15 

4 Affordable low carbon heating ..................................................................................................... 16 

4.1 Oversight Board: Environmental sustainability .................................................................... 16 

4.2 Context .................................................................................................................................. 16 

4.3 Heat networks ....................................................................................................................... 16 

4.4 Heat pumps ........................................................................................................................... 17 

4.5 Heat as a Service ................................................................................................................... 17 

4.6 Planned Actions .................................................................................................................... 17 

4.7 Other ongoing activities ........................................................................................................ 18 

5 An inclusive smart energy system ................................................................................................. 19 

5.1 Oversight Board: Environmental sustainability .................................................................... 19 

5.2 Context .................................................................................................................................. 19 

5.3 Planned Actions .................................................................................................................... 19 

5.4 Other ongoing activities ........................................................................................................ 20 

Page 23



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

4 

6 Specialist cold homes advice services and referral pathway ........................................................ 21 

6.1 Oversight Board: Health and Wellbeing ............................................................................... 21 

6.2 Context .................................................................................................................................. 21 

6.3 Planned Actions .................................................................................................................... 22 

6.4 Other ongoing activities ........................................................................................................ 24 

7 Indicators and reporting ............................................................................................................... 26 

7.1 Primary indicators ................................................................................................................. 26 

7.2 Secondary indicators ............................................................................................................. 27 

7.3 Reporting progress ................................................................................................................ 28 

7.4 Supporting research .............................................................................................................. 28 

Appendix A List of useful documents and resources ....................................................................... 29 

Appendix B NICE Recommendations on Excess Winter Deaths and the Health Risks Associated 
With Cold Homes .................................................................................................................................. 30 

Appendix C Glossary ......................................................................................................................... 31 

Appendix D Improving the dwelling of Fuel Poor households in Bristol to EPC band C  .................. 34 

Appendix E : Summary of progress in Bristol against NICE Guidelines ............................................ 37 

  

Page 24



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

5 

Executive Summary 
It is the ambition of Bristol, as set out in the One City Plan, that by 2030, nobody in Bristol will suffer 
from a cold home due to fuel poverty or their inability to have the necessary insulation and heating. 
This means that all fuel poor homes will be improved to an EPC C or higher. It will require investment 
of over £20 million to install insulation, improved efficiency and low carbon heating measures and 
renewable energy measures in fuel poor homes across Bristol. Specialist health and housing advice 
and referral pathways, integrated with income maximisation support, will also contribute to wider 
health and wellbeing benefits, in line with the One City goal to embed health and wellbeing in all key 
policy development. The fuel poverty action plan fits with the One City Climate Strategy – it includes 
actions to tackle fuel poverty that will help achieve affordable warmth and improved health 
alongside carbon emission reductions.  

The production of this action plan was led by the voluntary No Cold Homes steering group. An event 
hosted at City Hall in November 2019 brought together partners to identify the actions needed to 
achieve this goal, with further stakeholders helping to clarify the scale of action required.  

Leadership and co-ordinated action will be needed to deliver this plan. The Health and Wellbeing 
Board, the Homes and Communities Board and the Environmental Sustainability Board each have an 
oversight role for sections of the action plan. 

Summary of activities overseen by One City boards 

 

  

Homes and 
Communities 

All fuel poor 
homes achieve 

EPC C or higher by 
2030 

Invest in 
improvements 

across all types of 
housing 

Build new energy 
efficient 

affordable homes 

Develop supply 
chain for retrofit & 

repairs 

Environmental 
Sustainability 

Retrofit insulation 

Affordable low 
carbon heating 

Fuel-poor friendly 
smart energy 

services 

Support to enable 
participation in 

innovation 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Scale up single 
point of contact 

service 

Social prescribing 
referral pathways 

Front line staff 
training 

Data sharing and 
safeguarding 

services 

Page 25



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

6 

1 Introduction/Background 
It is the ambition of Bristol, as set out in the One City Plan, that by 2030, nobody in Bristol will suffer 
from a cold home due to fuel poverty or their inability to have the necessary insulation and heating. 

In 2014, the government introduced in legislation a fuel poverty target for England to improve as 
many fuel poor homes as is reasonably practicable to a minimum energy efficiency rating of Band C, 
by the end of 2030.  

More than 20,000 homes in Bristol that are currently EPC band D or worse require improving to EPC 
band C or higher by 2030. The cost to make the necessary retrofit improvements is estimated at over 
£190 million. This would rise to £220 million if homes improved were retrofitted with low carbon 
heating measures are retrofitted instead of new gas boilers being installed.  

The No Cold Homes steering group is a self-formed group that is committed to driving and co-
ordinating action on tackling fuel poverty in Bristol, with active representatives from leading 
organisations, including Bristol City Council, private and voluntary sector energy organisations, local 
advice and support providers, clinical commissioning groups, health researchers and representatives 
from the community energy sector.  

1.1 Fuel poverty and cold homes – definition  

Fuel poverty is generally understood to refer to the situation where a low income household is 
struggling to afford their energy costs. Fuel poverty exists where a household lives in a property that 
is not energy efficient and therefore expensive to keep warm; lives in a home that is much larger 
than needed; or where they use a more expensive heating fuel. Whilst the official definition of fuel 
poverty (see below) is based on modelled fuel costs, for many households the high cost of their 
energy tariff makes it hard for them to afford to keep their home warm. Similarly, even in an energy 
efficient home, having a broken or outdated heating system will affect a household’s ability to keep 
their home warm affordably. In the UK, space heating accounts for the majority of a household’s 
energy usage. Fuel poor households are also likely to experience other forms of energy deprivation 
affecting a range of daily activities within the home, including cooking, bathing, cleaning, study, 
socialising and entertainment.  

The official definition of fuel poverty used in England is the Low Income High Costs (LIHC) definition, 
which defines a household to be in fuel poverty if: 

• They have required fuel costs that are above average (the national median level) 
and;  

• Were they to spend that amount they would be left with a residual income below 
the official fuel poverty line. 

The government is consulting on a revised definition, the Low Income Low Energy Efficiency (LILEE). 
Under this definition, households will be deemed fuel poor if their disposable income (after housing 
and energy costs) is below the poverty line and they live in a property with an energy efficiency 
rating of Band D or lower. The energy performance certificate (EPC) rating of a dwelling is used as an 
indicator of how affordable it is to heat a home.  E, F & G rated homes are more difficult to heat and 
keen warm at an affordable cost, whilst homes that are rated C or above are more cost-effective to 

Page 26



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

7 

heat.  However, EPC ratings can be inaccurate. Also, if the heating system is broken or faulty or not 
being used, this will not be reflected in the EPC rating. 

1.2 The harmful effects of living in a cold home 

The experience of fuel poverty and living in a cold home can cause multiple forms of harm to 
physical health, mental and health and social impacts. The Bristol JSNA Chapter on Fuel Poverty 
provides a full analysis of the significance of fuel poverty as a public health issue affecting people 
living in Bristol. 

Living in cold and damp housing increases incidence rates for heart attack, stroke, respiratory 
disease, influenza, falls and injuries and hypothermia, especially in the elderly. It can also cause 
mental health effects from depression amongst all age groups as well as indirect risks of carbon 
monoxide poisoning. The World Health Organisation estimates that up to 30% of winter deaths are 
caused by cold housing. In the 2017/18 winter period, there were an estimated 50,100 excess winter 
deaths (EWD) in England and Wales.1 

Living in a cold home can also have indirect health effects on educational attainment, employment 
attainment.  

Living in a cold home also has harmful economic and social impacts, including household debt, social 
isolation, loneliness and poor diet, due to people making trade-offs between whether they heat 
their home or eat well. Fuel poverty is also associated with harm to health from associated problems 
of damp and poor internal air quality.  

NICE guidelines identify the following groups as at greater risk of harm to health from living in a cold 
home: 

• people with cardiovascular conditions 
• people with respiratory conditions (in particular COPD and childhood asthma) 
• people with mental health conditions 
• people with disabilities 
• older people (65 years +) 
• young children (under 5) 
• pregnant women 
• people on a low income 
• people who move in and out of homelessness 
• people with addictions 
• people who have attended hospital due to a fall 
• recent immigrants and asylum seekers 

1.3 The national context 

The government recently consulted on its 2015 Fuel Poverty Strategy for England, which set a target 
for as many fuel poor homes as is reasonably practicable achieve a minimum energy efficiency rating 
of Band C, by 2030. The fuel poverty statistics and consultation responses by activists, including 

                                                           
1 Julia Verne - Understanding and preventing excess winter deaths. Presentation  

Page 27



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

8 

CSE’s response, highlight that progress has stalled. The proportion of fuel-poor households rated D is 
projected to improve to 68% by 2019 – against an interim target for as many as reasonably possible 
to reach Band E by 2020.  

The government’s consultation asked whether existing national programmes are sufficient to meet 
the scale of the fuel poverty challenge and what should be included in a new strategy to meet that 
challenge. It asked respondents to comment on: 

• Updating the current Low Income High Cost (LIHC) fuel poverty metric to Low Income Low 
Energy Efficiency (LILEE); 

• Retaining the current target and interim milestones for the strategy; 
• The current guiding principles of the fuel poverty strategy (Worst First, cost effectiveness, 

vulnerability and a proposed 4th principle on aligning a fuel poverty strategy with current 
and future Government priorities; and 

• Policies and associated commitments to include in an updated strategy.  

The Queen’s speech in December 2019 confirmed the Conservative Manifesto pledge to invest £9.2 
billion in improving energy efficiency within homes, schools and hospitals to help reduce energy 
bills. The manifesto committed to: 

• Keep existing energy price cap legislation 
• Invest £6.3bn to improve the energy efficiency of 2.2 million disadvantaged homes, reducing 

their energy bills by as much as £750 a year, with two schemes: 
o £3.8bn social housing decarbonisation scheme focused on improving insulation in 2 

million social homes, reducing energy bills by an average of £160 / year 
o £2.5bn home upgrade grants (HUGs) to replace boilers, provide insulation and in 

some cases replace energy systems wholesale. 200,000 homes will be upgraded, 
providing an average annual saving of £750 a year. It will cover costs up to £12,000 
and apply to fuel poor households, both private and social, with poor energy 
efficiency. 

There was no mention of energy efficiency programmes in the recent budget. Further 
announcements on planned action to tackle fuel poverty will form part of the Government’s 
approach in the build-up to COP 26 in Glasgow in November. 2These are understood to include:3 

• an updated fuel poverty strategy for England and Energy White paper; 
• £6.3 billion-worth of upgrade for those in fuel-poor homes;  
• a consultation on raising minimum energy performance standards in private rented homes;  
• action to improve the warm home discount and Energy Company Obligation.  

Bristol City Council and other partners must work to ensure that fuel poor households in Bristol get 
their full share of this investment. 

                                                           
2 https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2020-02-07/debates/45023680-92D1-4EF1-AC56-
20B83289A51C/DomesticPremises(EnergyPerformance)Bill(HL). 
3 The above information was referenced in National Energy Action (NEA) Budget Submission 2020 

Page 28

https://www.cse.org.uk/downloads/file/CSE%20response%20to%20BEIS%20consultation%20on%20the%20fuel%20poverty%20strategy%20for%20England.pdf


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

9 

1.4 Bristol-specific challenges to addressing fuel poverty 

Many of the challenges for tackling fuel poverty across Bristol are common to those in the rest of the 
country. The Bristol JSNA Chapter on Fuel Poverty compared the situation in Bristol with that in 
other core cities. Rates of fuel poverty and excess winter deaths in Bristol compare favourably to 
other core cities. A growing proportion of housing in the city is in the private rental sector, and 
within this, a significant share comprises houses of multiple occupation (HMOs), which are generally 
in poorer condition than non-HMOs.  

Mapping of areas of Bristol with the highest proportions of fuel poor households tend to show up 
areas with large student populations and more affluent areas with older and larger Georgian homes, 
which are likely to have the highest total fuel bills, including Cotham, Bishopston and Clifton. 
However, mapping that overlays measures of poor health, low income and low energy efficiency 
tend to highlight other areas of the city, including Hartcliffe and Withywood, Lawrence Hill, Filwood, 
Ashley, Southmead and Easton. This demonstrates the importance of applying local understanding 
to development of action to tackle cold homes and associated harm to health in Bristol. 

The JSNA highlights the inter-relationships between fuel poverty and poor quality housing, income 
poverty, debt, food, transport and health issues. Advice agencies report being at capacity and 
overwhelmed by demand. The need for more collaborative working and data sharing between 
support and health service providers is highlighted, as well as for research to inform the strategic 
direction of local efforts and resources within the health and social care sectors. 

1.5 Rationale for action 

The No Cold Homes steering group formed of Bristol City Council and other organisations active in 
tackling fuel poverty and related social, economic and health challenges in the city came together to 
drive action to end cold homes in Bristol.  The production in 2018 of a JSNA fuel poverty chapter for 
Bristol by the No Cold Homes steering group was an important first step in highlighting the 
importance of tackling this preventable cause of ill health. The first recommendation from the JSNA 
was that the Health and Wellbeing Board facilitate the development of a fuel poverty strategy in 
collaboration with relevant organisations across Bristol.  

1.6 Opportunities - what enables us to confront challenges – include national enablers  

A number of national enablers provide the basis to confront the challenges faced.  

The general election provides the basis for a reset of national policy commitments on tackling fuel 
poverty, with improvements to the energy efficiency of our national housing stock appearing in 
manifesto commitments. An update of the fuel poverty strategy for England provides an opportunity 
to confirm and refresh commitments and associated action and investment.   

A recently published BEIS select committee report on energy efficiency urged the UK government to 
follow the example of the devolved nations with respect to complementing ECO funds with publicly 
funded programmes. The report is generally considered very coherent with a thorough evidence 
base. The government will have to reply to all of the committee's recommendations, so this may 
result in further opportunities at national level towards which the action plan can contribute.  

Page 29

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmbeis/1730/1730.pdf


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

10 

A Public Health England (PHE) e-learning module for front line health workers on recognising the 
health impact of cold homes has been developed, as a result of work by the BEIS fuel poverty and 
health working group. However a more tailored module is likely to yield increased referrals to 
Bristol’s own single-point-of-contact service. 

2 Our partnership approach 

2.1 Fit with One City Plan  

In January 2019 Bristol published its first ever One City Plan and in February 2020 the One City 
Environmental Sustainability Board published the One City Climate Strategy. The fuel poverty action 
plan is an essential additional to guide cross-sector, city-wide collaboration to tackle the challenge of 
cold homes. It will contribute towards the One City Plan goal of making Bristol a fair, healthy and 
sustainable city by 2050.  

Bristol’s declaration of a climate emergency and subsequent publication of the One City Climate 
Strategy provide an important regional context within which actions to end cold homes must be 
delivered. This will bring both challenges and opportunities, with the potential city-wide investment 
in new heating systems and insulation but also the prospect that fuel poor households - as well as 
others - will require financial and other help to participate in this transition. 

The target to end cold homes by 2030 will require a holistic approach to tackling the complex 
problem of fuel poverty. It will require a collaborative approach, led and overseen by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, the Environmental Sustainability Board and the Bristol Homes and Communities 
Board. Activities driven and overseen by the Economy Board will also be important to tackling fuel 
poverty. 

The action plan will need people and organisations from across the city to take action. It will need to 
interact with other city-wide collaborative initiatives (see Box 1) towards the wider goal of making 
Bristol a fair, healthy and sustainable city by 2050.  

Box 1: Related cross-city collaborations and delivery strategies 

• One City Climate Strategy: Sets out scale of ambition and actions needed to achieve Net 
Zero by 2030.  

• Bristol City Funds - £10 million investment funding for solutions that target the causes and 
effects of inequality in Bristol. 

• Thrive Bristol - 10 year programme to improve the mental health and wellbeing of 
everyone in Bristol, with a focus on those with the greatest needs. Fuel poverty is an 
important underlying cause of poor mental health. 

• Healthier Together - the Sustainability Transformation Partnership Long Term Plan 2020 – 
2025 covering health care in Bristol and surrounding areas. The health sector needs to 
engage fully in actions to end cold homes as a cause of ill-health and prevent discharge 
from hospital into cold homes. 

• Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-24. Fuel indebtedness can push people 
towards homelessness. Equipping newly housed people to manage their bills can support 
them to regain independence in their own home. 

 

Page 30



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

11 

2.2 Oversight and delivery responsibility 

Oversight and delivery responsibility is identified as lying with one of three boards – see Figure 1. 
There is inevitably some overlap in the responsibilities relating to improving the energy efficiency of 
housing. 

• Bristol Homes and Communities Board  
o Affordable, energy efficient housing 

• Environmental Sustainability Board  
o Affordable, low carbon heating 
o An inclusive, affordable smart energy system 

• The Health and Wellbeing Board  
o Specialist cold homes advice services and referral pathway 

Figure 1: Delivery and reporting structure for Fuel Poverty Action Plan 

 

The No Cold Homes steering group will support the oversight role of the boards, in the following 
ways: 

• Co-ordinate the monitoring of activity by delivery bodies to the One City boards 
• Compile data to enable reporting against key progress indicators 
• Provide advice to boards and commission research on behalf of boards to underpin 

understanding of further action needed to accelerate progress and overcome barriers. 

This will require dedicated funding, including additional budget to pay for any commissioned 
research. An executive team with representatives from Bristol City Council’s Energy team, Bristol 
Energy, the Centre for Sustainable Energy will provide administrative support to the steering group. 

A wider network of No Cold Homes delivery bodies will plan and deliver activities. This includes 
Bristol City Council teams, health providers, businesses, non-profit organisations, Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) organisations and academic bodies.  

One City Plan Office 
Team 

Homes and 
Communities Board 

Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

No Cold Homes 
Steering Group 

Delivery partners 

Environmental 
Sustainability Board 

Page 31



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

12 

2.3 Outcomes focused action plan 

The action plan focuses on achieving outcomes. The main outcome is that: 

• By 2030, nobody in Bristol will suffer from a cold home due to fuel poverty and/or 
inability to have the necessary insulation and heating. This will be measured using 
the LILEE definition. As measured by: Number of households in Bristol with income 
60% below median income living in a home with an energy efficiency rating of Band 
D or lower. 

Intermediary outcomes are: 

• Develop fuel poverty action plan for delivery from April 2020 onwards 
• Health & Wellbeing Board reports regularly on progress towards completing all 

recommendations of the NICE guideline. 
• Investment of £217 million to 2030 for retrofit of fuel poor homes in line with One 

City Climate Strategy to reduce energy demand and costs, using existing and new 
funding mechanisms, including City Leap. 

• Additional £2.3million revenue funding secured for City-wide single Point of Contact 
(SPOC) health & housing referral service commissioned beyond 2021 to deliver 
advice and support services to 2,500 fuel poor hours annually. 

• Health & social care practitioners, social housing professionals, voluntary & faith 
sector front line workers trained to identify people in need of support & make 
onward referrals  

• All vulnerable people with cold-related health risk factors discharged from hospital 
to a warm home by 2025 

Page 32



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

13 

3 Affordable, energy efficient housing  

3.1 Oversight Board: Homes and Communities 

3.2 Context 

The One City Plan aims to ensure that every person in Bristol will be able to live in a home that they 
can afford and which is secure and warm. There is a shortage of affordable housing in Bristol, with a 
74.8% increase in average house prices over the last ten years, a housing affordability ratio of 9.12, 
higher than the national average, and one of the highest rates of rent increases in the country.4,5 The 
combination of high housing costs and low efficiency housing stock, particularly in the private sector, 
contribute to continuing high rates of fuel poverty. 

Current statutory energy efficiency commitments require all fuel poor homes by 2030 in England to 
be levelled up to the energy efficiency standards of a current new-build home (EPC C). There is also a 
national policy target for all private rented sector homes to achieve a minimum EPC by 2030.To 
tackle fuel poverty and carbon emissions, major improvements must be made to housing in Bristol 
across all sectors (owner occupied, private and social rented sectors). Bristol’s existing housing stock 
contains large proportions of old, inefficient homes. A quarter of housing has solid walls.6 An 
estimated 22,000 fuel poor homes need retrofitting to achieve at least an Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC) rating of C by 2030.7 These inefficient homes cost 2-3 times more to heat than more 
efficient homes. In response, people living below the poverty line under heat their homes to save 
money, exposing them to the harm associated with living in a cold home – a key driver of fuel 
poverty. 

Bristol must deliver a large scale energy efficiency retrofit response. The scale of investment needed 
is estimated at £190 - £220 million over the next decade. For this Bristol will need to claim a 
significant share of the Government-announced but not yet launched HUGs and social housing 
decarbonisation schemes. Bristol has current funding for retrofit in the existing ECO scheme: Bristol 
City Council’s Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Flex Statement of Intent is designed to ensure 
funding is targeted at fuel poor households.8 Bristol Energy expects to spend up to £750,000 of ECO 
funding over the next 2 years from April 2020 to pay for energy efficiency and heating measures in 
fuel poor homes. 

A significant amount of investment will need to be targeted at the private rented sector, making best 
use of the minimum energy efficiency standard (MEES) regulations. Tightened regulations are being 
developed to achieve the trajectory of minimum EPC C by 2030. 

The April 2020 budget committed £12.2 billion to creating 200,000 new affordable homes in 
England. New housing in Bristol will be required to meet tightened energy efficiency standards. In 
Bristol stakeholders responded to a recent consultation on Future Homes Standards. Bristol City 
                                                           
4 State of Bristol: Key factors 2019 
5 https://www.zoopla.co.uk/discover/renting/zoopla-rental-market-report/ 
6 https://tools.smartsteep.eu/wiki/Bristol_-_Housing_Stock_Assessment 
7 See APPENDIX D for more information 
8https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/33407/ECO+Flexible+Eligibility+Statement+of+Intent+v1.0/76
a98415-e38d-a031-21ce-a8188ab41478 

Page 33

https://tools.smartsteep.eu/wiki/Bristol_-_Housing_Stock_Assessment


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

14 

Council is exploring the use of thermal imaging as a means to check that performance standards are 
met in new homes. 

Temporary accommodation for homeless people and people at risk of homelessness needs to be 
improved to ensure that accommodation is safe, warm and appropriate for individuals and families 
to live in. This aspect of the plan needs to be more fully developed, planned and funded, interacting 
with delivery of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-24. 

3.3 Planned Actions 

Action Timeline Status  Target / measure of 
progress 

Delivery lead 

Use selective licensing to 
drive improvements in 
energy efficiency of homes 
via EPC, MEES & Housing Act 

2020 /2025 / 
2030 

Extend / 
tighten 
rqts. to D 
/ C 

PRS homes 
improved to EPC E 
by 2020/ D by 2025 
/C by 2030 

BCC Private 
Housing Team  

Provide top-up grants to PRS 
landlords above £3500 
(£250k in grant funding to 
2022).  
Require improvements to 
EPC D by 2025 / to EPC C by 
2030 – with supporting 
funding. 

2019-2022 Extend 
beyond 
2022 / 
Scale up 

PRS homes 
improved to EPC E & 
higher by 2022 
 

BCC Private 
Housing Team 
BCC Energy 
Service 

Local authority-led mass 
retrofit investment in social 
housing to bring to C by 2030 

2021 - 2030 Scale up Social housing 
improved to EPC C 
or better by 2030 

BCC Housing 
Team 
BCC Energy 
Service 
 

Housing associations mass 
retrofit programme for fuel 
poor homes to bring to C by 
2030 

2021 - 2030 Scale up Social housing 
improved to EPC C 
or better by 2030  

Housing 
associations 

Channel and support national 
government funding for low 
income private owner energy 
efficiency retrofit measures 
and heating 

2020 - 2030 New Fuel poor owner-
occupier homes 
improved to EPC C 
or better by 2030 

BCC Private 
Housing Team 
BCC Energy 
Service 

Bristol Energy & BCC Energy 
Service to deliver ECO 
funding to focus on fuel poor 
households  - private rented 
and owner occupied homes 
£750k  

2020 - 2022 New Private Rented 
Sector and owner 
occupiers & 
households 
improved to EPC E & 
higher by 2022 

BCC Private 
Housing Team 
BCC Energy 
Service 
Bristol Energy 

Develop local supply chain on 
low cost repairs, retrofit, low 
carbon heating, new build 
sustainable homes. Learn 
from Futureproof 

[Futureproof 
2019-2021] 
2021 onwards 

NEW Number of 
contractors trained 

The Green 
Register/CSE 

Build new affordable homes 
to C and above 

2020 onwards Scale up # new affordable 
homes EPC C or 

BCC Housing 
Delivery 

Page 34



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

15 

higher in Bristol 
Prioritise investment in 
housing repairs to fuel poor 
households in social housing 

?? Existing ?? BCC Housing 
Team 
BCC Accessible 
Homes 

Financial support for private 
low income home owners to 
make repairs to heating and 
minimise heat loss  

?? Existing / 
scale up 

 BCC Private 
Housing Team / 
WE Care 

Use HHSRS powers to require 
improvements to PRS 
housing of FP households 

??   BCC Housing 
and Private 
Housing Team 

3.4 Other ongoing activities 

Bristol Energy’s Fuel Good Fund includes support for home energy improvements, and energy 
efficiency measures. Advice services also provide help fuel poor households identify their needs and 
help them access available funding for improvements to their homes. See section 5.4.  

Futureproof is a market accelerator initiative facilitated by The Green Register and Centre for 
Sustainable Energy, currently working to build the skills for low carbon retrofit delivery in Bristol and 
the surrounding area. The initiative is mainly aimed at the ‘able to pay’ market. An adapted version 
with a different funding model is needed to enable widened access to high quality workmanship by 
lower income homeowners wanting to make improvements to their home. 

Roof over my head is a multi-agency three day tenancy preparedness course for households who are 
homeless or in supporting housing moving to private rented accommodation. The course, delivered 
by WRAMAS (Bristol City Council Welfare Rights and Money Advice Service) and BCC Learning 
Communities’ Team covers landlord and tenant responsibilities, budgeting, welfare rights, and other 
topics. It supports around 180 households per year.   

Page 35



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

16 

4 Affordable low carbon heating 

4.1 Oversight Board: Environmental sustainability 

4.2 Context 

Affordable heating options are key to tackling fuel poverty. Upgrading the energy performance of 
the city’s buildings described above would have a significant impact on reducing fuel poverty. 
Nevertheless several factors influence a household’s ability to keep affordably warm in winter e.g. 
income, building efficiency, and heating practices.  

Gas central heating is now a higher carbon option than electric heating. Moving towards the 
decarbonisation of heat with the shift away from gas heating to heat pumps or district heating is 
likely to increase heating costs. This creates a tension between the dual challenges of attaining 
affordable warmth for every household and decarbonising heat. The anticipated 20-30% increase in 
fuel bills for heating costs may be balanced out by reductions in energy consumption due to energy 
efficiency improvements and the reduced standing charge on bills.  It may, therefore, be possible to 
shift to low carbon heat without exacerbating fuel poverty. 

The Energy Companies Obligation (ECO) is a government energy efficiency scheme in Great Britain to 
help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty. ECO3, the current policy which runs to March 
2022, the Home Heating Cost Reduction Obligation (HHCRO) requires obligated suppliers to promote 
eligible measures which improve the ability of low income, fuel poor and vulnerable households to 
heat their homes.9  

The Budget (March 2020) announced a new £100m scheme to help households and small businesses 
invest in low carbon heating. It is also providing £270 million in funding for a Green Heat Networks 
scheme to encourage new and existing heat networks to adopt low carbon heat sources.  

4.3 Heat networks 

District heating provides a low carbon alternative to gas central heating to deliver affordable heat. 
Homes and businesses receive heat from energy centres through a network of pipes.  Bristol already 
has a major city centre heat network, with over 1000 properties (700 of them council-owned homes) 
already connected to it.  It has been awarded £10 million by the government’s Heat Network 
Investment Project to expand this network to new areas of the city during 2020-2030.10  The 
expansion is ongoing in the Temple Quay, City Centre and Old Market areas of the City, with new 
residential developments and existing social housing blocks being connected. Longer term activities 
to 2030 as part of the One City Climate Strategy will require heat networks across much of the city, 
particularly in areas with larger properties. 

                                                           
9 https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/system/files/docs/2020/02/energy_company_obligation_2018-
22_eco3_guidance_delivery_v1.4_1.pdf 
10 https://environmentjournal.online/articles/bristol-has-recieved-10m-to-expand-their-low-carbon-heat-
network/ 6th March 2020 

Page 36

https://environmentjournal.online/articles/bristol-has-recieved-10m-to-expand-their-low-carbon-heat-network/
https://environmentjournal.online/articles/bristol-has-recieved-10m-to-expand-their-low-carbon-heat-network/


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

17 

4.4 Heat pumps 

Heat pumps will also play a major role in decarbonising heat in Bristol, as set out in the One City 
Climate Strategy. Homes need to be fully insulated before heat pump installation, and occupants 
given advice on how to use, maintain and repair them.  The capital costs to install heat pumps are 
currently much higher than for gas boilers. Bristol City Council will need to join with other Core Cities 
to influence central government policy to redirect ECO funding from gas boilers to heat pumps to 
make heat pumps more affordable.  Bristol City Council Energy services have yet to develop specific 
plans to roll out heat pump installation in areas of the city not served by the heat network.  See 
Appendix D, Improving the dwelling of fuel poor households in Bristol to EPC band C (at minimum 
cost), for a detailed analysis of the cost of installing energy efficiency measures and a comparison of 
gas combi boilers and heat pumps as heating options. 

4.5 Heat as a Service 

Bristol Energy’s Heat as a Service trial involves selling ‘warm hours’ to customers over a period of 
time instead of kWh of energy. This is a new way of selling energy intended to help customers 
budget, be more in control of their heating to achieve their desired level of warmth.  There is an 
intention to prioritise fuel poor households in future. 

4.6 Planned Actions 

Recommended Actions Timeline Status Target / measure of 
progress 

Who has 
responsibility / 
who can 
influence 

Develop ‘affordable warmth’ 
funded retrofit and subsidy 
package to pay for insulation 
and low carbon heating 
solutions for fuel poor 
households in Bristol from 
2022/2023 

2022 
onwards 

NEW 10,000 fuel poor homes 
retrofitted with low 
carbon heating by 2030 
Approx. 17,000 insulation 
type measures (see 
Appendix D) 

BCC Energy 
Service 

Make best use of ECO3 funding 
for sold wall insulation in fuel 
poor homes to 2022 and gov 
funding to 2030 

2020 – 
2022 / 
2022-
2030 

NEW 1100 external wall 
insulation by 2030 

BCC Energy 
Service 

Develop ‘heat as a service’ 
offers suitable for low income 
households, building on Energy 
Systems Catapult/Bristol Energy 
trial 

 NEW Fuel poor homes able to 
heat homes affordably via 
heat as a service 

Bristol Energy / 
BCC Energy 
Service 

Expand heat network 
connections to social housing 
blocks and fuel poor homes as 
part of One City climate 
strategy  

Already 
started 

Scale 
up 

Social/affordable homes 
connected to low cost 
heat network by 2030 

BCC Energy 
Service 

Influence government policy 
and secure funding for heat 
pumps to be installed in fuel 

From 
2022 

NEW Up to 10,000 fuel poor 
homes retrofitted with 
heat pumps by 2030 (see 

BCC Energy 
Service 

Page 37



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

18 

poor homes from 2022. Trial 
most suitable delivery model. 

appendix D) 

Core Strategy BCS14: major 
developments in ‘Heat Priority 
Areas’ should connect to 
existing heat networks, where 
available. Where not yet 
available, developments should 
incorporate infrastructure to 
connect in the future.  

Adopted 
in 2011 

Scale 
up  

New-build social / 
affordable homes 
connected to existing 
heat networks (includes 
existing post 2011 new 
homes not yet 
connected) 

BCC Energy 
Service 

Monitor roll out of low carbon 
heating to ensure BCC tenant 
households are not pushed into 
fuel poverty 

2020 - 
2030 

New Static or reducing number 
of BCC tenant households 
in fuel poverty 

BCC Housing 
Team 

Test and adopt cost-effective 
techniques to monitor the 
actual heat loss performance of 
new build and retrofit homes 

2022 NEW Reduced performance 
gap of new and retrofit 
social & affordable homes 

BCC Energy 
Service 

Train community thermal 
imaging champions to deliver 
surveys for fuel poor 
households 

Already 
Started 

Scale 
Up 

# fuel poor households 
surveyed/yr & install 
measures. 
 

Bristol Energy 
Network / 
Futureproof 

Help with hoarding, temporary 
rehousing and other support to 
enable installation of insulation 
and heating measures in fuel 
poor properties.  

?? New # fuel poor HH helped to 
overcome barriers to 
affordable heat measures 
installation 

BCC Energy 
Service / WE 
Care / CSE 

4.7 Other ongoing activities 

Funding is available for first time gas central heating for fuel poor households in Bristol, with a target 
of 238 installations across Bristol & BANES & North Somerset by 2022. 

Bristol Energy Network provide ongoing activities that support people living in fuel poverty including 
educational events that promote energy efficiency retrofit. 

The Making Space project facilitated by WE Care provides practical and emotional support to 
hoarders. Hoarding can contribute to fuel poverty as it may be impossible to service a boiler or fit a 
new heating system, resulting in a cold home and/or financial hardship due to reliance on expensive 
electric space and water heating. 

WE Care provide support for home repairs vital to help vulnerable householder stay safe and warm 
in their homes, including fixing or replacing heating, improving energy efficiency or making 
adaptations. 

  

Page 38



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

19 

5 An inclusive, affordable, smart energy system 

5.1 Oversight Board: Environmental sustainability 

5.2 Context 

Bristol is an entrepreneurial city at the forefront of smart city initiatives: it ranks in the top 10 
European cities for technology. Bristol’s Smart City Strategy addresses how innovative solutions will 
change how people live in the city and address energy use challenges in the future. The council and 
Bristol Energy are leading pioneering projects to ensure Bristol’s innovation successes benefit all 
sections of society including fuel poor and low income households in Bristol. The city also benefits 
from a thriving community energy sector who have supported the involvement of fuel poor 
households in innovation projects, such as Replicate (see below). The national smart meter rollout 
means that smart Time of Use tariffs will soon become more widely available: this brings with it a 
need to be attentive to the opportunities and risks for fuel poor households. 

Bristol has leveraged EU innovation funding for the REPLICATE project that trials smart solutions to 
tackle fuel poverty, promote wellbeing and reduce carbon emissions. The project, led by Bristol City 
Council in partnership with the university and others runs from 2016-2021.11  The project aims to 
deploy integrated energy, mobility and ICT solutions in cities. One of the project aims is to explore 
the role of smart technology in tackling fuel poverty. It is trialling smart technology in areas of the 
city with high rates of fuel poverty: Ashley, Easton and Lawrence Hill. The Save with Solar Bristol 
project being undertaken by Bristol City Council in partnership with Bristol Energy is pilot testing 
solar PV and battery equipment installation across social housing towards the development of a 
viable commercial model to expand across BCC’s social housing estate.12 

5.3 Planned Actions 

Actions Timeline Status Target / measure 
of progress 

Who has 
responsibility / 
who can 
influence 

Replicate smart connected 
homes trial tests how smart 
appliances, demand side 
response (DSR) & associated 
tariffs enable low income 
households to save energy & 
money on fuel bills. 

2016-
2021 

Trial ends 
2021 

Lessons for 
engaging fuel poor 
households in 
DSR. 

REPLICATE Team 
-BCC & partners 

Replicate trial retrofit of loft 
insulation, new boilers and 
solar PV in fuel poor homes. 

2016-
2021 

Trial Ends 
2021 

Bill savings & 
energy savings 
achieved 

REPLICATE Team 
 

Integrate lessons from 
Replicate into city-wide 
installations (see One City 
Climate Strategy Delivery 

2021-
2030 

NEW Fuel poor HH 
engaged in 
smarter energy 
solutions 

BCC City 
Innovation 
CSE 

                                                           
11 Replicate (Renaissance in Places with Innovative Citizenship and Technology) Bristol partners include Bristol 
City Council, University of Bristol; Knowle West Media Centre; Bristol Energy Network, UWE; NEC; Bristol is 
Open; Zeetta Networks & others. 
12 Bristol City Council (2019) Save with Solar Bristol. Report prepared by Lorna Humphreys. 

Page 39



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

20 

Theme 4: Electricity)  
Expand Save with Solar Bristol 
trial solar PV and battery trial 
(10 houses to date) to 
commercial model for social 
housing –City Leap. 

Trial to 
2021? 
Expand 
from 
2022 

EXPAND As 
commercial 
model 

9,600 solar PV 
installed in BCC 
social housing by 
2030 
Tenant bill savings 

BCC Energy 
Service  
Bristol Energy 

Community sector approaches 
& business models to enable 
fuel poor households to 
participate in smart tech eg 
solar PV or tariff pilots, 
building on eg Lockleaze Loves 
Solar. 

2021 NEW Contribute to 
9600 solar PV on 
fuel poor homes. 
Also batteries and 
new tariffs  

Bristol Energy 
Network (BEN) 
CSE 

5.4 Other ongoing activities 

The community energy sector in Bristol is engaged in a variety of initiatives to support people living 
in more deprived areas of Bristol to engage in innovative smart energy projects towards that help 
achieve reduced energy bills and make smart solutions work for fuel poor households. One such 
example is Lockleaze Loves Solar. This is an innovation trial which aims to install 1MW of solar PV 
across 300 roofs in the Lockleaze area at no costs to the householder. Target homes are social 
housing, lower income households and planned new housing in the area. The trial seeks to develop a 
viable business model for community groups to deliver rooftop solar projects in communities with 
fuel poor households.13  

                                                           
13 https://www.lockleazehub.org.uk/lockleaze-loves-solar 

Page 40



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

21 

6 Specialist cold homes advice services and referral pathway 

6.1 Oversight Board: Health and Wellbeing 

6.2 Context 

Bristol has a strong economy and numerous cultural and natural assets, but the city faces a major 
challenge in the scale of inequalities that exist within it. 69,000 people in Bristol live in some of the 
10% most deprived local communities in England. The city was ranked 55th in the country for the 
size of the inequality in employment between White British people and ethnic minorities.14 One 
form in which these stark inequalities manifest is as fuel poverty, which can have lifelong adverse 
effects on health, learning and income.15  

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance (NG6) on excess winter death 
and the health risks associated with cold homes sets out a clear set of actions aimed at health bodies 
and professionals, including Health and Wellbeing Boards. The Bristol JSNA 2018 chapter on Fuel 
poverty adopted the full set of measures as recommendations to take forward.  At the heart of this 
is having in place a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) specialist health and cold homes specialist advice 
service, with effective referral pathways from the health, voluntary and community sectors. 

See Appendix E for a summary of Bristol’s progress towards fulfilling the NICE guidance 
recommendations. Key outstanding challenges are to increase skills and capacity in the health and 
social care sectors to identify and refer onwards people with poor health who are most at risk from 
cold homes, as well as to extend and scale up the capacity and reach of specialist advice services.  

Healthier Together is the Sustainability Transformation Partnership Long Term Plan 2020 – 2025 
covering health care in Bristol and surrounding areas.16 This plan provides a key opportunity for 
giving greater importance to and recognition of the responsibility of partners for reducing cold 
homes in line with the Nice guidance recommendations.  

Warmer Homes, Advice and Money (WHAM) is a multi-agency partnership which provides a 
comprehensive service to people living in fuel poverty and financial hardship in Bristol.17 It is funded 
from a variety of sources including the Bristol Energy Fuel Good Fund. The project acts as a single 
point of contact for specialist energy advice.  

CSE currently runs the Tenant Energy Advice (TEA) Service for Bristol City Council housing tenants. 
CSE’s home energy advice line provides a free, local and impartial energy advice service – it is the 
first point of contact for a range of other CSE services delivered by trained advisors. New 
partnerships enable delivery of tailored energy advice to particular interest groups. A recent new 
initiative is a specialist energy advice service for refugees and asylum seekers in Bristol. 

                                                           
14 A Runneymede study, referenced in Bristol One City Plan 
15 Chance of a lifetime. The impact of bad housing on children’s lives. Shelter 2006 pg 24 
16 Bristol, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire STPs; Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS 
Trust; Bristol City Council; Bristol Community Health; Bristol, North Somerset, South Gloucestershire clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG); North Bristol NHS Trust; North Somerset Community Partnership; North 
Somerset Council; One Care; Sirona care & health; South Gloucestershire Council; South Western Ambulance 
17 Centre for Sustainable Energy, Talking Money, Citizens Advice Bristol, Citizens Advice North Somerset, We 
Care Home Improvements, Bristol Energy Network, Bristol and North Somerset Council 

Page 41



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

22 

These fit within an established network of advice and support agencies that provide independent, 
impartial advice and support across a range of areas that are vital for fuel poor households. Advisor 
knowledge and referral processes are crucial to make sure individuals’ multiple advice needs are 
addressed. Robust data sharing and referral processes are also needed to make every contact count. 

6.3 Planned Actions 

Recommended 
Actions 

Timeline Status Target / measure of progress Who has 
responsibility / 
who can influence 

Extend funding 
of WHAM 
hospital worker 
role to enable 
discharge of 
patients to 
warm home. 
 

Funded 
post to 
2020 

Extend Additional 1 FTE worker from 
2020/2021 
Reduction in 30 day re-admission rate 
for patients with relevant conditions 
[target number tbc].  

BNSSG STP  

Secure ring-
fenced funding 
to prioritise 
investment in 
improving 
energy efficiency 
of homes of 
people with 
existing health 
conditions. This 
requires analysis 
to confirm target 
numbers. 

2021 New £ investment in improvements 
[target number tbc] homes improved 
of people with target conditions 
Reduction in 30 day re-admission 
[target number tbc]. 
Self-reported better mental health. 
 

BNSSG STP 
BCC 

Trial & scale-up 
smart 
safeguarding 
service for older 
people with 
cold-related 
health 
conditions  

2022 New Reduced number emergency 
admissions by safeguarding 
participants. [target number tbc] 

Health trust / 
Bristol University 
(Sphere)/CSE / tech 
partner /  

Public health 
awareness 
campaign tied 
into e.g. flu 
vaccination / 
cold weather 
plan / other 
Winter resilience 
planning – 
include WHAM/ 
other advice & 
support services 

Input for 
winter  
2020 

Scale 
up 

Key messages included in winter 
health campaigns. 
Increased awareness of harm to 
health from cold homes amongst 
general public & re awareness of 
available services. 
25% increase in people referred to 
SPOC during/following campaign 

BNSSG STP / CCGs / 
Trusts / WHAM/ 
 

Page 42



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

23 

in Plan 
Analysis of value 
of single point of 
contact (WHAM) 
and hospital 
discharge case 
worker to justify 
health funding & 
continued 
funding from 
government / 
ECO / other 
sources for 
expanded 
scheme. 

Start 
09/2020 
Interim 
findings 
spring 
2021 
Final 
spring 
2022 

New Funded evaluation of single point of 
contact /discharge service 
Qualitative evidence of benefits. 
Reduction in emergency admissions & 
GP events. 
£ value of savings to NHS 

Bristol Health 
Partners CLAHRC 
West – funded as 
Applied Research 
Collaboration West 
(ARC West), CSE, 
WHAM, CCGs & 
Trusts 

Development 
activity to secure 
funding for 
expanded 
service (Bristol 
Energy; BCC; 
government, 
ECO,  redress, 
other existing 
funding sources) 

09/2020 
 

Scale 
up 

£2.3 million secured for fuel poverty 
advice services in Bristol 2020 –2030 
(£100/client, 23,000 clients) 

CSE & partners 
BCC / Bristol Energy 
 

Continue and 
expand delivery 
of year-round 
integrated 
advice services - 
by phone, home 
visit, outreach 
(income max, 
energy, repairs, 
measures, 
behaviours). 

2021-
2030 

Scale 
up 

23,000 fuel poor households reached 
by services: 2,500/yr 
Improved self-reported ability to keep 
warm / manage fuel bills / reduced 
worry. 

CSE / ACFA / BCC / 
advice agencies 

Joint PSR, via 
data sharing 
under Digital 
Economy Act 
2017 between 
BCC, WPD, 
Bristol Energy, 
water 
companies to 
enable planning 
& targeting of 
measures & 
support 

Already 
started 

Scale 
up 

Joint PSR between BCC, WPD, Wessex 
Water & Bristol Energy 
15% increase PSR registered (against 
WPD PSR). 
All PSR customers in Bristol contacted 
& checked every 2 yrs  
Target to be defined for PSR 
customers in Bristol referred for & 
received support and/or funded 
measures. 

WPD, Bristol & 
Wessex Water, 
Bristol Energy, BCC 

Bristol social 
prescribing 

Existing 
service 

New Target to be defined for referrals to 
SPOC (WHAM/ TEA) from health 

CCGs / 
Trusts/Sirona / 

Page 43



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

24 

pathway 
mechanism to 
generate 
referrals to 
specialist cold 
homes advice 
service. 

ends 
March 
2020 

providers / from VCS. WHAM/The Care 
Forum 
/WRAMAS/VOSCUR 

Develop Bristol-
specific front 
line training on 
cold home 
awareness & 
how to make 
referrals to 
WHAM/TEA/CSE 
advice service – 
for health 
workers & for 
voluntary & 
community 
sector (VCS).  

2021 New Funding secured for development of 
bespoke training module, launch, 
promotion & support. 
Completion of training on rolling basis 
by [target number tbc] health 
workers/yr & [target number tbc] VCS 
FLWs/yr 2020 – 2030. 

WRAMAS 
VOSCUR 
ACFA ?? 
BCC 
CSE / WHAM 
partners 
Thrive 

Link cold homes 
awareness 
training to 
Thrive mental 
health 
awareness 
training 

Set up in 
2020 
 

 [target number tbc] health FLW / CVS 
FLWs completed both mental health 
awareness & cold homes awareness 
training. 

Thrive  
CSE / WHAM 
partners 
BCC 
BNSSG STP 

Build on city 
best practice to 
facilitate robust 
referral systems 
between advice 
services. 
Increase 
collaboration to 
‘Make every 
contact count’ 

 Scale 
up 

City-wide extension of referrals 
through adoption of common 
‘protocol’. 
Fuel poor households access holistic 
service provision and can access all 
relevant help 

??? 

6.4 Other ongoing activities 

Thrive Bristol, a ten year programme launched in 2018, aims to improve Bristolians mental health. 
The project covers all ages and considers mental health in its broadest sense. It focuses on 
prevention and early intervention and works by using public, private and third sector co-operation, 
leadership and resources across the city. Thrive offers collaborative training for workforces including 
housing officers and landlords on mental health awareness. The programme has a number of work 
streams that link with fuel poverty, and it supports social prescribing to Age Friendly Bristol. 

Food insecurity is also a major challenge in Bristol. Where householders struggle to afford their 
outgoings they face the ‘heat or eat’ dilemma. A number of foodbanks across the city offer vital 
support, providing users with food, fuel vouchers and referrals to relevant advice agencies. 

Page 44



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

25 

The Welfare Rights and Money Advice Service (WRAMAS) is a council service which takes referrals 
for assisted and specialist case work for individual clients to maximise their income from accessing 
welfare benefits, particularly disabled people and full-time carers. Talking Money and Citizens Advice 
provide a range of money advice services to help people struggling with debt, bills and money 
management. To scale up the support they provide will require further long tem funding. These and 
other organisations maximise income for fuel poor households through a range of activities such as 
checking benefits entitlements, helping people appeal benefits decisions, helping with tariff 
switches, applying for discounts on utility bills, accessing essential goods/resources from charitable 
sources and clearing debt. 

Bristol Water and Western Power Distribution (WPD) keep separate registers of their vulnerable 
customers in case of power or water outage but they now share Priority Service Register (PSR) data 
to improve services for vulnerable people and are starting to share information so that households 
are offered support when they need it. 

First Contact Bristol was a referral service for use by frontline workers supporting older people to 
access different support services, including specialist energy advice. Funding for the service ends 31 
March 2020. North Bristol NHS Trust have been promoting the scheme with referral postcards in 
A&E and on hospital wards. With the end of funding, this risks a gap in Bristol falling backwards in 
responding to the Nice recommendation for effective referrals. 

Page 45



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

26 

7 Indicators and reporting 
Actions within the plan and associated projects will be measured against a series of outcomes and 
indicators. Primary indicators will measure the overall delivery and impact of interventions being 
delivered by collaborating partners across Bristol. Secondary indicators will provide feedback on how 
effectively funded interventions are delivered.  

Reporting on these indicators will be included as part of an annual progress review of this Fuel 
Poverty Action Plan. These are currently in draft. We would welcome suggestions on targets and 
how best to monitor them.  

7.1 Primary indicators  

Outcomes Indicators Baseline 
Develop fuel poverty action 
plan in 2019  

Action plan sign off by No Cold 
Homes steering group in 2020 
Adoption / sign-off of action plan 
April 2020 

No Cold Homes workshop 
to identify activities Nov 
2019 
Draft action plan 
produced. 

Funding for fuel poverty 
activity  

• Single point of contact service 
commissioned beyond 2021 
and service expanded to meet 
needs 

• Funding secured from 
government, ECO3 or other 
existing grant funding schemes 

• Additional capital funding 
secured for installation of 
measures benefitting fuel poor 
homes (£20 million over 
lifetime of action plan) 

• Additional £2.3 million revenue 
funding secured for services 
supporting fuel poor 
households over lifetime of 
action plan 

 

Reduce the number of fuel 
poor homes in Bristol 

Fuel poverty in Bristol 
(count/value/recent trend)  
Measured using: Annual fuel 
poverty statistics produced by BEIS. 
Mental health and wellbeing JSNA 
B17 - Fuel Poverty 
 

Year: 2017 
Count: 23,015 
Value: 11.7 
Trend:  

Improve the energy efficiency 
of fuel poor homes in Bristol 
in line with national targets. 
 

Number of measures installed 
against modelled target to meet 
EPC band C and above by 2030 (see 
Appendix D) to value £217 million, 
improving approx. 22,300 FP 
homes. 
 

  

Page 46

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna/data#page/3/gid/1938132920/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E06000023/iid/90356/age/-1/sex/-1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna/data#page/3/gid/1938132920/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E06000023/iid/90356/age/-1/sex/-1


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

27 

Number of fuel poor homes in   
• EPC bands F&G (2020) 
• EPC bands E to D (2025) 
• EPC band C and above 

(2030) 
Note: A home moved from EPC 
band G to EPC band C in 2020, for 
example, would contribute 
towards the 2030 target and 
interim milestones. 

Downward trend in the rate 
of excess winter death 

Ratio of extra deaths from all 
causes that occur in the winter 
months compared with the 
expected number of deaths – as 
single year / as 3-year aggregate 
Public Health Outcomes 
Framework E14 – Excess Winter 
Deaths Index 

Year: 2017-2018 
Number: 296 
Value: 28.1% 

   

7.2 Secondary indicators  

Outcomes Indicator(s) 
Improved quality of life  
Quality of Life Survey Bristol 

• % satisfied with the cost of heating their 
home (by tenure) 

• % satisfied with the state of repair of 
their home (by tenure) 

• % who find it difficult to manage 
financially 

Improved health and wellbeing • % below average mental wellbeing 
(Bristol Quality of Life survey) 

• Self-reported question (ONS Wellbeing 
Indicator or Warwick-Edinburgh Mental 
Well-Being Scale) 

• Symptom severity - people with existing 
cold-related conditions  

• Use of planned and emergency health 
services by people with existing cold-
related conditions 

• Ability to pay bills (level of worry about 
paying heating bills; extent to which 
avoid switching on heating due to 
concerns about costs) 

Data is shared to identify people who are 
vulnerable to the health problems associated with 
a cold home 

• Energy and water utilities, suppliers, 
support organisations and health bodies 
share data to identify vulnerable people 
to plan city-wide services 

Improved referrals by the health and social care 
sector and by the voluntary and community sector 
(VCS) 

• Number of staff or volunteers 
completing training in awareness of cold 
homes (health/social care and VCS) 

• Number of trained staff reporting 

Page 47

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E06000023/iid/90360/age/1/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E06000023/iid/90360/age/1/sex/4


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

28 

confidence to identify and make 
successful referrals to SPOC service 
(health/social care and VCS) 

• Numbers of successful referrals, broken 
down by referral route (health/social 
care and VCS) 

Hospital admission rates and GP usage Track the rates of service use for those who 
receive support, compared against control 
group and/or historical data. 

Reduction in utility bills • Reduction in energy bills, broken down 
by intervention (£/year) (TBC - 
estimated or reported). 

• Reduction in water bills, broken down 
by intervention (£/year). (TBC - 
estimated or reported). 

Improved warmth in homes of fuel poor and 
vulnerable households 

• Beneficiaries report improved warmth 
and comfort at home in winter 

Income maximisation • Number of successful referrals to 
income maximisation service  

• Amount of additional income secured 
per household 

• Reduction in fuel debt (£/hh) 

7.3 Reporting progress 

The No Cold Homes steering group will need to appoint responsibility for monitoring data collection 
and reporting by the different delivery bodies on a regular basis. Quarterly meetings will provide an 
opportunity to review progress.  

The No Cold Homes steering group will be responsible for preparing an annual progress report to 
submit to the Health and Wellbeing Board. This will include collation of key indicators of progress, 
though it should be noted that national fuel poverty statistics are reported nationally a year in 
arrears. The Health and Wellbeing board will be responsible for providing overall oversight and 
scrutiny of progress against the target. 

7.4 Supporting research 

Further research will be required to support delivery of the action plan, including to understand the 
scale and feasibility of recommended actions, better understand the fit with One City Climate 
Strategy and to evaluate the impact of actions. 

 

Page 48



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

29 

Appendix A List of useful documents and resources 
BEIS (2016) Affordable warmth and health impact evaluation toolkit. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/512555/Affordable_Warmth___Health_Impact_Evaluation_Toolkit.pdf 

Bristol City Council (2018) Bristol JSNA 2018 Fuel Poverty Chapter. 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34772/Fuel+Poverty+JSNA+Chapter+%282018%29.p
df/46359d3e-74cd-524e-819f-d27c86a692ae 

Bristol Open Data Quality of Life indicators  
https://opendata.bristol.gov.uk/explore/dataset/quality-of-life-2018-19-citywide-
trend/table/?disjunctive.ward_name 

Citizens Advice and Cornwall Council (2018) Cold Homes toolkit. Local authority toolkit. Health 
professionals’ toolkit. 
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/how-we-provide-advice/advice-partnerships/cold-
homes-toolkit/ 

Nice Guidance (2015) NG6 ‘Excess winter deaths and illness and the health risks associated with cold 
homes’  
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng6 

Public Health England (2019) Helping People Living in Cold Homes. E-learning module. 
https://www.e-lfh.org.uk/programmes/cold-homes/ 

Public Health England (PHE) (2019) Data sources to support local services tackling health risks of cold 
homes.  
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/770963/data_sources_to_support_local_services_tackling_health_risks_of_cold_homes.pdf 

Public Health Outcomes Framework  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework

Page 49

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512555/Affordable_Warmth___Health_Impact_Evaluation_Toolkit.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512555/Affordable_Warmth___Health_Impact_Evaluation_Toolkit.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34772/Fuel+Poverty+JSNA+Chapter+%282018%29.pdf/46359d3e-74cd-524e-819f-d27c86a692ae
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34772/Fuel+Poverty+JSNA+Chapter+%282018%29.pdf/46359d3e-74cd-524e-819f-d27c86a692ae
https://opendata.bristol.gov.uk/explore/dataset/quality-of-life-2018-19-citywide-trend/table/?disjunctive.ward_name
https://opendata.bristol.gov.uk/explore/dataset/quality-of-life-2018-19-citywide-trend/table/?disjunctive.ward_name
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/how-we-provide-advice/advice-partnerships/cold-homes-toolkit/
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/about-us/how-we-provide-advice/advice-partnerships/cold-homes-toolkit/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng6
https://www.e-lfh.org.uk/programmes/cold-homes/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/770963/data_sources_to_support_local_services_tackling_health_risks_of_cold_homes.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/770963/data_sources_to_support_local_services_tackling_health_risks_of_cold_homes.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework


Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

30 

Appendix B NICE Recommendations on Excess Winter Deaths and the Health Risks Associated With Cold Homes 

 

P
age 50



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

31 

Appendix C Glossary 
Term Definition 
Bristol City Funds  City Funds is a partnership of organisations committed to securing 

and directing £10 million investment funding towards solutions that 
target the causes and effects of inequality in Bristol. 

Bristol City Leap City Leap is a series of energy and infrastructure investment 
opportunities in Bristol to build a citywide energy system that will 
help decarbonise the city and improve the quality of life for people in 
Bristol.   

Centre for Sustainable Energy 
(CSE) 

Bristol based charity that deliver a range of energy advice services to 
residents of Bristol and England. 

Climate Emergency A climate emergency declaration is a statement that mandates a 
government or organisation to take urgent action to prevent climate 
change, often accompanied by emission reduction targets. 

Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) 

Clinically-led statutory NHS bodies responsible for the planning and 
commissioning of health care services for their local area. 

Committee on Fuel Poverty An advisory non-departmental public body that advises on the 
effectiveness of policies aimed at reducing fuel poverty in England. 

Energy Company Obligation 
(ECO) 

Government programme that requires energy suppliers to help 
lower-income households install heating and energy efficiency 
measures in their home to help reduce carbon emissions and tackle 
fuel poverty. 

Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC) Energy 
Efficiency Rating 

When a home is built, sold or rented in the UK, it needs an Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC). This includes a chart which displays 
the energy efficiency rating of the home. It shows how much a 
building will cost to heat and light, what its carbon dioxide emissions 
are likely to be and what improvements you can make to improve its 
energy efficiency. An EPC rates a property in bands from A (most 
efficient) to G (least efficient).  

Going for Gold Bristol’s city wide effort to become a Gold Sustainable Food City. 
This is a national programme that celebrates and supports 
communities that are making positive changes to their food system. 

Health and Wellbeing Board A forum in which key leaders from the local health and care system 
work together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local 
population. Health and wellbeing boards have a statutory duty, with 
clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) to produce a Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. 

Healthier Together  This is the name of the Bristol, North Somerset and South 
Gloucestershire (BNSSG) Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP). The Partnership has produced a Sustainability 
Transformation Partnership Long Term Plan 2020 – 2025 for health 
care in Bristol and surrounding areas. The plan covers all aspects of 
NHS spending in the area, covering three headline issues: improving 
quality and developing new models of care; improving health and 
wellbeing; and improving efficiency of services. 

Houses of Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) 

Properties rented to multiple households sharing kitchen, bathroom 
and toilet facilities. Multiple households refers to adults who are not 
related or a couple. 

Hybrid heat pump A combined heat pump and a gas condensing boiler create a 

Page 51



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

32 

domestic heating and hot water system. Hybrid heat pumps use a 
combination of gas and electricity. . 

Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment is used to assess the current 
and future healthcare and wellbeing needs of residents in a local 
authority. One chapter in the JSNA assesses needs relating to Fuel 
Poverty in Bristol.  

Local housing allowance The rates of housing benefit for tenants renting from private 
landlords who are eligible for support. 

Low Income High Cost (LIHC) An England-wide adopted measure of fuel poverty. It states that a 
household is in fuel poverty if they have above average modelled 
fuel costs and after spending that amount, they would have a 
residual income below the official poverty line. 

Low Income Low Energy 
Efficiency (LILEE) 

Proposed new fuel poverty definition for England. Under this 
definition, households will be deemed fuel poor if their disposable 
income (after housing and energy costs) is below the poverty line 
and they live in a property with an energy efficiency rating of Band D 
or lower. The LILEE measure would increase the number of 
households considered fuel poor by approximately 1 million, 
bringing the total number of fuel poor households in England up to 
over 3.6 million. 

Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) 

Legislation that requires private rented (domestic and commercial) 
properties to have an EPC rating of E or higher. There is a cap of 
£3,500 on the amount of their own money that landlords are 
required to spend to improve the efficiency of a property. 
Enforcement of MEES is a local authority responsibility. 

National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence (NICE) 
Guidance NG6 

This refers to guidance on ‘Preventing excess winter deaths and 
illness associated with cold homes’. Clinical guidelines are 
recommendations on how healthcare and other professionals should 
care for people with specific conditions. NICE provides national 
guidance and advice to improve health and social care. 

Net Zero 'Net zero' means that any greenhouse gas emissions are balanced by 
absorbing an equivalent amount from the atmosphere. Net Zero 
targets refer to policy targets to achieve net-zero greenhouse gases 
by a specific date. The UK has set a national target of Net Zero by 
2050. Bristol has set itself a target of net zero by 2030. 

One City Climate Strategy Sets out scale of ambition and actions needed to achieve Net Zero by 
2030. 

One City Plan A whole city plan and approach to reaching a shared vision of Bristol 
by focusing activity across sectors in the city. 

Single Point of Contact 
(SPOC) 

A person or organisation (with single contact phone number) that 
coordinates multiple services relating to health and housing for 
people at risk of living in a cold home. The creation and maintenance 
of a SPOC health and housing referral service is a key 
recommendation in NG6 to prevent harm to health from cold 
homes.  

Thermal imaging survey A survey that uses thermal imaging cameras to visually represent 
surface temperatures of an object. 

Thrive Bristol 10 year programme to improve the mental health and wellbeing of 
everyone in Bristol, with a focus on those with the greatest needs. 

Universal Credit A means tested benefit replacing a number of other working age 
benefits in the UK. Migration to the new, online system started in 

Page 52



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

33 

2019. 
Warmer Homes Advice and 
Money (WHAM) 

A multi-agency project led by CSE that provides a single point of 
contact (SPOC) service for cold homes support in Bristol. 

Welfare Rights And Money 
Advice Service (WRAMAS) 

Part of Bristol City Council, WRAMAS provides benefits and money 
advice, consultancy, information and training, to a range of clients, 
services and organisations throughout Bristol. 

Page 53



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

34 

Appendix D Improving the dwelling of Fuel Poor households in Bristol to EPC band C  
Modelling conducted February 2020 by CSE in the National Housing Model (NHM) using a stock based on the English Housing Survey 2014. The results included here are 
estimates only, and should be considered indicative rather than definitive.   

Table 1 shows estimates from modelling at minimum cost –with over 7000 new gas or oil combi boilers installed. Table 2 shows estimated costs for installing air source heat 
pumps instead of these new boilers as part of retrofit improvements. This was done outside the NHM model. This does not include assessment of whether air source heat 
pumps are suitable for properties. It is only to give an indicative low-carbon cost estimate. Table 3 shows the resulting improvements in EPC band for fuel poor dwellings. 

• Modelling does not include heat networks or ground source heat pumps. 
• Modelling does not include detailed assessment of suitability for solar (eg roofsize). 
• Modelling does not exclude measures not suitable for properties in conversation areas. 
• Modelling does not include replacement of all existing Gas Central heating in fuel poor homes. 

Table 1: At minimum cost - includes install of new more efficient gas or oil combi boilers 

Technology 
All urban south west fuel poor 

average.cost 
Bristol scaled 

number.of.installs total.cost bristol.number.of.installs bristol.total.cost 
Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) 13,907 86,843,000 6,245 2,500 15,780,500 
External wall insulation 6,299 45,645,016 7,246 1,100 8,294,300 
Floor insulation 31,473 24,896,419 791 5,700 4,524,000 
Hot Water Cylinder Insulation 16,109 724,905 45 2,900 131,700 
Internal wall insulation 30,066 173,454,132 5,769 5,500 31,518,800 
Loft insulation 48,497 23,750,312 490 8,800 4,315,700 
Low energy lighting 50,294 8,344,675 166 9,100 1,516,300 
MAINS_GAS Combi Boiler 35,755 107,912,000 3,018 6,500 19,609,000 
OIL Combi Boiler 4,898 20,111,700 4,106 900 3,654,600 
Secondary glazing 447 577,423 1,292 100 104,900 
Solar DHW (solar thermal) 32,194 144,873,000 4,500 5,900 26,325,300 
Solar Photovoltaic 52,798 385,919,900 7,309 9,600 70,126,500 
Storage heater 6,181 22,225,000 3,596 1,100 4,038,600 
Triple glazing 981 2,679,307 2,731 200 486,900 
Wet Central Heating 11,187 21,740,750 1,943 2,000 3,950,600 
All measures 341,086 1,069,697,539 3,136 62,000 194,377,600 

P
age 54



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

35 

    
(rounded to nearest million) £194,000,000 

    
Average cost/home improved £8716 

 

 

Table 2: Install Air Source Heat Pumps instead of new gas and oil combi boilers 

Technology 
All urban south west fuel poor 

average.cost 
Bristol scaled 

number.of.installs total.cost bristol.number.of.installs bristol.total.cost 
Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) 13,907 86,843,000 6,245 2,500 15,780,500 
External wall insulation 6,299 45,645,016 7,246 1,100 8,294,300 
Floor insulation 31,473 24,896,419 791 5,700 4,524,000 
Hot Water Cylinder Insulation 16,109 724,905 45 2,900 131,700 
Internal wall insulation 30,066 173,454,132 5,769 5,500 31,518,800 
Loft insulation 48,497 23,750,312 490 8,800 4,315,700 
Low energy lighting 50,294 8,344,675 166 9,100 1,516,300 
ASHP instead of MAINS_GAS Combi 
Boiler  35,755 107,912,000 6,245 6,500 40,589,595 
ASHP instead of OIL Combi Boiler 4,898 20,111,700 6,245 900 5,620,098 
Secondary glazing 447 577,423 1,292 100 104,900 
Solar DHW (solar thermal) 32,194 144,873,000 4,500 5,900 26,325,300 
Solar Photovoltaic 52,798 385,919,900 7,309 9,600 70,126,500 
Storage heater 6,181 22,225,000 3,596 1,100 4,038,600 
Triple glazing 981 2,679,307 2,731 200 486,900 
Wet Central Heating 11,187 21,740,750 1,943 2,000 3,950,600 
All measures 341,086 1,069,697,539 3,136 62,000 217,323,793 

    
(rounded to nearest million) £217,000,000 

    
Average cost/home improved £9745 

  

P
age 55



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

36 

Table 3: Modelled resulting improvements in EPC (based on Table 1 modelling) 

Bristol FP EPC profiles 
EPC band before measures after measures 
C 720 17,860 
D 12,550 3,250 
E 5,330 1,340 
F 3,300 570 
G 1,120 0 
All 
dwellings 23,020 23,020 
Fuel Poor Dwellings improved 22,300 

P
age 56



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

37 

Appendix E : Summary of progress in Bristol against NICE Guidelines 

*Achieved? symbols:   = in delivery; = partially in delivery; X = not current being delivered. 
Timeframe of secured funding for activities in delivery is indicated where known.  

Number Recommendation Achieved? Actions 
1 Develop a fuel poverty 

strategy 
 This Action Plan has been produced in 

conjunction with the No Cold Homes Steering 
Group. 

2 Ensure there is a single‑
point‑of‑contact (SPOC) 
health and housing 
referral service for 
people living in cold 
homes 

 The Warm Homes and Money (WHAM) (funding 
to 2021) and the TEA (Tenant’s Energy Advice) 
(funding to 2024) services enable many people 
to access support. WHAM will require further 
funding to continue beyond 2021 and to expand 
scope.  

3 Provide tailored 
solutions via the single‑ 
point‑of‑contact health 
and housing referral 
service for people living 
in cold homes 

 Six WHAM caseworkers work across multiple 
organisations to deliver the appropriate 
combination of money advice, energy, home 
repair and other advice and support needs, 
based on referrals from health, community and 
voluntary sector agencies. 

4 Identify people at risk of 
ill health from living in a 
cold home 

 Mapping analysis, as presented in the JSNA, to 
identify the scale and geography of the problem. 
First Contact Checklist being used for over 50s to 
identify people in need of support. 

5 Make every contact 
count by assessing the 
heating needs of people 
who use primary health 
and home care services 

 First Contact Bristol Checklist aims to ensure 
older people in access services they need, 
including energy advice and home 
improvements. This is currently only aimed at 
people over 50. 

6 Non-health and social 
care workers who visit 
people at home should 
assess their heating 
needs 

 First Contact Bristol is helping ensure older 
people are asked about relevant services they 
may need. This needs to be reviewed to 
generate more referrals and to be widened to 
other groups at risk of cold homes. 

7 Discharge vulnerable 
people from health or 
social care settings to a 
warm home 

 A WHAM caseworker rotates between discharge 
units at major hospitals to provide support to 
people being discharged to cold homes.  

8 Train health and social 
care practitioners to help 
people whose homes 
may be too cold 

 From 2020 WHAM to deliver training to frontline 
health workers in Bristol. For some workers it 
will be obligatory training. 

9 Train housing 
professionals and faith 
and voluntary sector 
workers to help people 
whose homes may be 
too cold for their health 

 Thrive programme to deliver joint training on 
mental health awareness and fuel poverty 
training. 

Page 57



Bristol Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2020 – 2030 Draft  March 2020 

38 

and wellbeing 
10 Train heating engineers, 

meter installers and 
those providing building 
insulation to help 
vulnerable people at 
home 

X This is not currently planned, but Bristol City 
Council Energy services and Futureproof could 
provide access to these groups. Priority activity 
for local action should be to: 
Train up heating engineers to explain how the 
system works in a way that occupants find easy 
to understand.  

11 Raise awareness among 
practitioners and the 
public about how to 
keep warm at home 

X This is an action that should be delivered as part 
of cold weather planning. 
Advice agencies, including CSE, host and attend 
events throughout the year to raise awareness. 
This requires an online training module rolled 
out across the health service 

12 Ensure buildings meet 
ventilation and other 
building and trading 
standards 

X Revised national Building Regulations are 
currently under review. These will increase the 
emphasis on ventilation. 

 

Page 58



Jane Lowe of Clevedon was referred to WHAM by 
Citizen’s Advice North Somerset  as her boiler was 
intermittently breaking and her gas bills were high. She 
had no hot water and most of the radiators in the house 
weren’t working. As Jane suffers from severe osteoporosis 
her mobility is worsening and she needs more heat than 
she used to.

Three home visits were undertaken.

WHAM fuel poverty advisor, Joe Pitt, takes up the story ...

“On my first visit I had a look at the boiler and the 
radiators. There were no obvious issues with the controls 
so I referred her to We Care for a free boiler service. 
This turned the hot water back on but it left the heating 
on constantly and it turned out that there were repairs 
needed to a valve and the pump, which were not covered 
by the service. Jane was already worried about the cost of 
her bills as she is on a low income and having the boiler 
running so much was a real source of stress for her.

“Many of the radiators weren’t working and the TRVs 
would not move when I tried to turn them. I referred to 
AMS electrical for this issue, they came out and managed 
to unstick the TRVs which got the radiators working 
again.

“In addition to the boiler issues, on the first visit I also 
looked at the energy bills with Jane. She was on a 
prepayment meter with British Gas and was finding 

CASE STUDY #1

WHAM | Warmer Homes, Advice & Money

After being put in touch with 
WHAM regarding my heating 
problems, I was very impressed 
with the professional way it was 
handled. Joe Pitt was always easy 
to talk to and got all the problems 
sorted out. Without this fi nancial 
support I don’t know what I 
would have done. Being diagnosed 
with a life changing illness was 
awful, but the support I received 
was amazing. Thank you all very 
much.”

Jane, Clevedon

“

Page 59



CASE STUDY #1

it hard to get to the shops to top up, she wanted to 
switch to direct debits but wasn’t sure whether this was 
possible. We called British Gas and arranged a date for a 
meter exchange to a smart credit meter. Jane also hadn’t 
heard of the Warm Home Discount, so I explained the 
application process to her and also applied for her.

“Between visits, I referred Jane to the E.ON ECO scheme 
for a new boiler, as there were major maintenance issues 
with her existing one and it was over 15 years old and 
inefficient. A ECO grant covered most of the cost of the 
boiler installation leaving a householder contribution of 
£711.08 which Jane could not afford. This cost was able 
to be covered by the WHAM emergency fund. 

“On my second visit, Jane had had her new smart credit 
meter installed. She wanted to be on the best value direct 
debit tariff and stay with British Gas, so we found her a 
new contract fixed tariff with British Gas, saving £230 
annually. This contract also included a year of free heating 
repair callouts, which Jane 
needed to use on Christmas 
eve when her boiler stopped 
working.

“After Christmas, the new 
boiler was installed and I 
visited again to explain how 
to use the programmer 
and thermostat and what 
temperature it would be 
sensible to set it at. I also 
helped her communicate with 
GasTech Wales (who installed 
the boiler) to arrange for 
them to revisit to complete a 
few jobs which had not been 
fully completed on the day of 
the install.”

WHAM | Warmer Homes, Advice & Money

WHAM is funded by Bristol 
City Council, Bristol Energy 
and the Warm Homes Fund. 

It is delivered by the Centre 
for Sustainable Energy, Talking 
Money and We Care Home 
Improvements, Bristol and 
North Somerset councils, 
Citizen’s Advice, Bristol Energy 
Network and AMS Electrical.

KEY OUTCOMES

Through WHAM, Jane benefi tted in the following ways:

• She received a free boiler service which would 
normally cost £78, and following this a free 
new boiler installation (which saved her £2900 
through ECO funding and £711.08 through WHAM 
emergency funding), and crucially made her home 
warmer and lowered her ongoing fuel bills, making 
her feel much more at ease.

• She gained a better understanding of tariffs, 
billing and getting the best from her supplier. She 
switched to a smart credit meter which is much more 
convenient for her, and also applied for the Warm 
Home Discount (which she can now do on a yearly 
basis). She also saved £230 by changing tariff, and 
benefi tted from a free boiler repair through this 
tariff too.

• She now has working radiators due to AMS 
Electrical (the council’s handyperson service) visiting 
to unstick the TRVs, which was free for the client 
due to WHAM funding.

• And fi nally she is able to fully understand how to 
effi ciently control her heating, making sure she is 
comfortably warm when it’s needed and she is able 
to save money on her annual fuel bill.

Joe Pitt

Page 60



Environment and Sustainability 
Board 

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 6



Landscape architect and urban designer 
Environmental consultancy 
Lived in Bristol for 30 years 
Home for my two children – for now 

 

Andrew Linfoot 
 

P
age 62



• Youth homelessness 
• Quality Design and place-making that 

incorporates Active Travel 
• Crossover to Retrofit 
• Low Embodied Energy and Circular 

Economy 
• Zero Carbon / Grid Carbon Emission 
• Performance Gap / Delivering Quality on 

Site 
• Improving resilience and flexibility of 

homes 

P
age 63



One City Plan – synergies and common goals 

P
age 64



In February 2020 Bristol 
launched its One City Climate 

Strategy  

P
age 65



It’s fair to say that to tackle climate change 
we need everyone to take action. From the 

individual to the international.  
And we need to connect those actions.  

P
age 66



“In 2030, Bristol is carbon neutral and climate 
resilient. We have collectively achieved a fair 
and inclusive transition; capturing the 
opportunities of new jobs and investment, 
improved health, wellbeing and education, and a 
better environment for local people. We have 
helped lead the way to a safer global climate.” 

Vision 
 

P
age 67



Principles 
 

If we stick to the principles of the strategy there 
will be opportunity for us all to participate in the 
benefits – like job creation.  

P
age 68



Timeline 
 

We’re not at the start of the journey – across Bristol 
people have been working on this for years. But… 

P
age 69



As a city we need to act now to reduce direct and indirect emissions to net 
zero. 
  
We need to prepare and adapt to deal with the projected impacts of 
climate change.  
 

A step change is required in the pace and scale of action in 
order to address the climate emergency.  

P
age 70



There are  
10 themes  

across which we 
need to take action  

P
age 71



1. Transport 

Bristol will have a sustainable 
carbon neutral transport system 
with modal shift to significantly 
more citizens walking, cycling 
and using low carbon public 
transport. 
 
Everyone will have access to a 
transport system that is resilient 
to a changing climate. 
 
Where do we put our houses? 
 

P
age 72



2. Buildings 

All buildings in the city will be carbon 
neutral and use resources efficiently, 
ensuring everyone can enjoy 
affordable warmth in winter and avoid 
overheating in summer. 
 
All buildings in the city will be 
resilient to a changing climate. 
 
What about the existing housing 
stock? 

P
age 73



3. Heat decarbonisation 

Bristol will have to implement 
carbon neutral forms of energy 
for heating and hot water for all 
by 2030. 
 
What about my gas boiler? 

P
age 74



4. Electricity 

All electricity supplied to and 
generated in Bristol will be 
carbon neutral.  
(Taking into account the anticipated  
50% increase in demand by 2030). 
 
We will have an electricity 
system that is resilient to a 
changing climate. 
 
Can homes be power 
stations? 

P
age 75



5. Consumption and waste  

Bristol will generate no carbon 
emissions from waste 
management. 
 
Bristol will be recognised as a city 
of responsible consumption, 
buying goods and services that are 
carbon neutral, and reducing our 
exposure to climate hazards in the 
supply chain. 
 
The building industry? 

P
age 76



6. Business & the 
economy 

Bristol’s businesses will 
be carbon neutral and 
climate resilient. 
 
Bristol will have a strong 
carbon neutral, and 
climate resilient economy, 
maximising on the 
opportunity from the 
transition. 

P
age 77



7. Public, voluntary and 
social enterprise sectors 
 Our city will lead the way 

with carbon neutral public, 
voluntary, community and social 
enterprise services and supply 
chains. 
 
PVCSE services in Bristol will 
be prepared for future climate 
conditions and hazards. 

P
age 78



8. Natural environment 

The natural environment in Bristol will 
be restored, protected and enhanced 
to deliver climate change benefits. 
As the climate changes, we will adapt 
to limit damage to wildlife, whilst 
supporting opportunities for recovery 
and protection of species. 
 
How can our homes be rich in 
biodiversity? 

P
age 79



9. Food 

Bristol will have a resilient food 
supply chain that supports the 
city region’s local food economy. 
 
People in Bristol will consume 
carbon neutral food and drink. 

P
age 80



10. Infrastructure 
interdependencies 

Bristol service providers will 
collaborate in running vital services 
to the city such as water, transport, 
waste, ICT and energy to improve 
their climate resilience and embed 
carbon neutrality across different 
systems. 
 
Achieving infrastructure 
resilience in our existing and new 
homes? 

P
age 81



How can we help? 
Collaboration of multiple partners across the city. 

 

P
age 82



Opening up a conversation… 
 

• Unprecedented times 
• Different dynamics 
• Fairness and rebalancing 
• Forming connections 
• Taking action together  
• Common goals collective and efficacy 

 
 

P
age 83



Opening up a conversation… 
An idea..?  COVID-19 Green economy recovery plan? 
Low Carbon Retrofit Economic recovery package 
• Green jobs from major retrofit programme of the existing social housing stock 

suiting a range of qualifications 
• Draw on technology and innovation 
• Relatively strong local ‘green building skills’, building services expertise and 

public energy advice services 
• Addressing fuel poverty goals in tandem with carbon neutral goals 
• Delivering health benefits through providing better environments 
• Leadership from public sector to demonstrate potential with exemplar 

retrofits and new build projects on own buildings (including housing) and to 
drive skills and quality improvements. 

• Scalability and confidence for the private sector 

P
age 84



Thank you 

P
age 85



Building our  
Response to the  

Ecological Emergency 
Ian Barrett – Chief Executive - Avon Wildlife Trust  

Bristol’s Decade of Transformation 

One City Homes & Communities Board 
25 June 2020 

© http://www.discoverclifton.co.uk/attractions/avon-gorge/ 

P
age 86

http://www.discoverclifton.co.uk/attractions/avon-gorge/


Wildlife Loss and Ecological Breakdown 

Nature is declining globally at rates unprecedented in human history 

1970-2018 

Wild Vertebrates 
60% Decline  

Freshwater Wildlife 
83% Decline 

Marine Populations 
50% Decline 

P
age 87

https://www.conservation.org/blog/tagging-giants-studying-whale-sharks-in-cendrawasih-bay
https://www.worldwildlife.org/species/elephant
https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/wildlife-explorer/amphibians/common-frog


Brown Hare -2.8m (80%) 

Hedgehog -30m (95%) 

Nesting birds –44m (20%) 

Since 1960s 
Since 1950s 

Last century 

P
age 88



Starling -96% Swift -96% Linnet -80% 

Bristol Area 
1994-2014 

P
age 89

https://www.gwentwildlife.org/events/2019/11/12/starlings-star-act?instance=0
https://www.norfolkwildlifetrust.org.uk/wildlife-in-norfolk/species-explorer/birds/swift
https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/wildlife-explorer/birds/finches-and-buntings/linnet


• German nature reserves  
• 76% decline in insect biomass (1989 to 2014) 

• Puerto Rica 
• 75-98% decline in insect biomass (1977 to 2013) 

• UK butterflies 
• 46% decline between 1977 and 2017 

• Similar declines in insect eating birds 
• Spotted Flycatcher  -93% 
• Partridge -92% 
• Red backed shrike – Extinct in UK 

Insectageddon? 

• Nightingale  -93% 
• Cuckoo  -77% 

 

 

P
age 90



Causes of Wildlife Decline 

Global (IPBES) 
1. Changes in land and sea use  

• Three-quarters of the land-based environment and about 
66% of the marine environment have been significantly 
altered by human actions.  

• More than a third of the world’s land surface and nearly 75% 
of freshwater resources are now devoted to crop or livestock 
production. 

2. Direct exploitation of organisms 
3. Climate change 
4. Pollution  
5. Invasive alien species 

 

P
age 91



Impacts of Wildlife Loss 

P
age 92



Impacts of Wildlife Loss 

P
age 93

https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/store-without-bees_n_5500380?


P
age 94



• Changes to farming and land use and the  
chemicals we use are causing accelerating  
wildlife loss globally and in the UK 

• Current rates of species extinction are  
100 to 1,000 times higher than the  
background rate and the rate is increasing 

• 1 in 8 bird species is threatened with  
global extinction 

• More than 40% of amphibian species and more than a third of all marine 
mammals are threatened.  

• 41% of insect species are threatened with extinction 
• 15% of UK species are at risk 

The 6th Major Extinction 

P
age 95



20-30%  
of the species on Earth  

may be at risk of extinction  
if the climate warms by an average of 1.5°C 

Most ecosystems will struggle if the planet warms by more than 2°C 

Climate change is happening too quickly for many species to adapt 
 

(Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) 

P
age 96



“The health of ecosystems on which we and 
all other species depend is deteriorating more 
rapidly than ever. We are eroding the very 
foundations of our economies, livelihoods, 
food security, health and quality of life 
worldwide.” says IPBES Chair, Sir Robert 
Watson. “The overwhelming evidence… from 
a wide range of different fields of knowledge, 
presents an ominous picture” 

 
We need to tackle the twin threats of climate change and 

ecological breakdown to save our planet for people and wildlife  

 

P
age 97



“The mass extinction event we are 
facing is AVOIDABLE!”  

* Benedict Macdonald, Author, Rebirding (2019) 

Stop destruction  
of habitats 

Stop routine and 
unnecessary  

use of pesticides 

Manage other land 
sympathetically for 

wildlife 

Protect, link and 
enhance wildlife 

hotspots 

* 

P
age 98

https://twitter.com/WildSheffield/status/994251240702906368
https://www.pan-uk.org/pan-uk-dismayed-echa-opinion-glyphosate/sprucefield-lisburn-ni/#iLightbox[postimages]/0
https://twitter.com/NFFNUK/status/950707486398517248
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/green-bridges-safer-travel-for-wildlife


“It is not too late to start the recovery of our wildlife. We 
must work together to grasp this last chance and put things 
right for nature and wildlife in our city. 
“This declaration will provide a focus for the whole city to 
come together and take positive action. 
“Our commitment to this will extend beyond parks and 
green spaces. We need our buildings, streets and open 
spaces to support wildlife and create a more nature friendly 
city, and we need new developments to do the same. 
“This is about how we responsibly build and develop the 
city so humans don’t threaten wildlife and instead support 
them to grow alongside us. We can’t solve this issue over-
night but if we make sure we consider the ecology when we 
build each new development, and take major city decisions, 
then we can start to make major progress. 

Marvin Rees 

Ecological Emergency Declaration (Feb 2020) 

P
age 99



Ambitions 
• Everyone has access to excellent 

quality greenspace by 2036 
• Reverse decline in bees and 

pollinators by 2037 
• Double wildlife abundance by 2044 

Bristol One City Plan 

P
age 100



  My Wild City 

Building our Response 
- Engaging Communities 

P
age 101



Building our Response 
- Nature Recovery Networks 

Ecosystem type 
Tonnes 

CO2/ha/yr 

Peat bogs and heathland 7.3  
Woodland 12.8  
Species-rich grassland 3.6  
Saltmarsh 8.1  
Ponds & lakes 5.1  
Offshore 4.0  

(Rewilding Britain) W
in

-w
in

 

P
age 102



Building our Response 
- Nature Friendly Development 

P
age 103



Building our Response 
- Retrofitting Habitats 

P
age 104



Nature Recovery Network 

 

Wildlife-friendly Development Retrofitting Habitats 

Building our Response 
- Homes & Communities 

How can we work together to develop a city that works for people, wildlife  
and the ecosystems on which we all depend? 

P
age 105


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	5 Fuel Poverty
	Slide Number 1
	Fuel Poverty in Bristol
	Strategic context
	Proposed approach
	FP Action Plan in progress
	Offer
	Ask
	Warmer Homes Advice and Money
	Discussion
	5 Bristol fuel poverty action plan_draft issued 17.03.2020
	Bristol fuel poverty action plan 2020 –2030
	Foreword (inside page)
	Table of Contents
	Executive Summary
	1 Introduction/Background
	1.1 Fuel poverty and cold homes – definition
	1.2 The harmful effects of living in a cold home
	1.3 The national context
	1.4 Bristol-specific challenges to addressing fuel poverty
	1.5 Rationale for action
	1.6 Opportunities - what enables us to confront challenges – include national enablers

	2 Our partnership approach
	2.1 Fit with One City Plan
	2.2 Oversight and delivery responsibility
	2.3 Outcomes focused action plan

	3  Affordable, energy efficient housing
	3.1 Oversight Board: Homes and Communities
	3.2 Context
	3.3 Planned Actions
	3.4 Other ongoing activities

	4 Affordable low carbon heating
	4.1 Oversight Board: Environmental sustainability
	4.2 Context
	4.3 Heat networks
	4.4 Heat pumps
	4.5 Heat as a Service
	4.6 Planned Actions
	4.7 Other ongoing activities

	5 An inclusive, affordable, smart energy system
	5.1 Oversight Board: Environmental sustainability
	5.2 Context
	5.3 Planned Actions
	5.4 Other ongoing activities

	6 Specialist cold homes advice services and referral pathway
	6.1 Oversight Board: Health and Wellbeing
	6.2 Context
	6.3 Planned Actions
	6.4 Other ongoing activities

	7 Indicators and reporting
	7.1 Primary indicators
	7.2 Secondary indicators
	7.3 Reporting progress
	7.4 Supporting research

	Appendix A List of useful documents and resources
	Appendix B NICE Recommendations on Excess Winter Deaths and the Health Risks Associated With Cold Homes
	Appendix C Glossary
	Appendix D Improving the dwelling of Fuel Poor households in Bristol to EPC band C
	Appendix E : Summary of progress in Bristol against NICE Guidelines

	wham-case-study-jane-lowe (002)

	6 One City Climate Strategy
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Ecological Emergency - One City Homes and Communities Board June 2020
	Building our �Response to the �Ecological Emergency
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20



